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FIRST QUANTUM MINERALS LTD. is a well-established and rapidly growing mining and metals company engaged in mineral
exploration, development and mining. The Company currently produces LME grade equivalent copper cathode, copper in
concentrate, nickel, gold and platinum group metals. Its operations and projects are located in Zambia, Mauritania, Australia,
Finland and Peru. In 2012, First Quantum produced 307,115 tonnes of copper, 36,759 tonnes of nickel, 201,942 ounces of gold,
13,808 ounces of platinum and 12,183 ounces of palladium.

In 2013, the Company acquired Inmet Mining, a Canadian-based company with global operations producing copper and zinc.

Unless otherwise noted, all amounts in this report are expressed in United States dollars.

We delivered strong
operating and financial
results in 2012. From the
production and sale of
copper, nickel, gold and
platinum group metals, we
generated $2,950 million
in sales revenues.
Letter to Shareholders,
Page 2

Our vision to create a premier
base metals company, with
a leading growth profile
in copper.
Letter to Shareholders,
Page 3

We became a significant
nickel producer in 2012 with
a full year of commercial
production at Ravensthorpe
and the start-up of Kevitsa.
Operations and Projects,
Pages 8, 11, 12

Our exploration program had
a busy and productive year
which included major drilling
campaigns at Kansanshi and
Trident and entering into
new joint-ventures focused
on early-stage copper
opportunities.
Exploration, Page 16

Kansanshi Guelb Moghrein Ravensthorpe Kevitsa

BOLDER, SMARTER, 
DRIVEN.
BOLDER, SMARTER, 
DRIVEN.



Our shareholders benefit from our share price appreciation.

Since we first listed on the TSX, First Quantum’s
shares have returned a compounded annual gain
of over 30%.

Our employees and communities benefit as the Company grows.

In 2012, we expanded our production base and
began construction on three more projects.

We are creating a new global leader in copper.

Our acquisition of Inmet in 2013 creates a premier
base metals company with unparalleled growth in
copper production and cash flow generation.

Sentinel Copper Smelter Haquira Enterprise
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2012 WAS AN OUTSTANDING YEAR FOR

FIRST QUANTUM WITH SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS

MADE IN ALL ASPECTS OF THE COMPANY. 

Our production base provides the necessary resources

for management to grow and diversify the Company.

In 2012 we expanded with the addition of Ravensthorpe

and Kevitsa, which both operated commercially

during the year. For Ravensthorpe, it was a full year of

commercial operations. While Kevitsa completed

construction and entered commercial production mid-

year, as planned at the beginning of the project.

All of the operations turned in strong performances.

Our flagship Kansanshi mine established a new

production record. This is particularly notable given

the volume of work being done at the mine amidst the

multi-stage production capacity expansion and

the continuing constraints of third-party supply

of sulphuric acid for use in the oxide circuit. 

At Guelb Moghrein, the on-going process optimization

efforts resulted in a strong year-over-year performance

which included a new quarterly record for throughput.

Ravensthorpe’s first full year of commercial operations

was a resounding success. In a nutshell, its production

was in line with plan; unit cost of production was

below expectations; and even in the prevailing low

nickel price environment, the mine generated over

$82 million in operating cash flow.

Kevitsa’s start-up in the midst of the Arctic winter

proved the depth of our employees’ expertise.

Throughput exceeded expectations and operations

progressed towards steady state levels.

Altogether, our copper production rose 16% year-over-

year to 307,115 tonnes. We entered the nickel market

with an impressive 36,759 tonnes of nickel and our

unit cost to produce copper was well contained,

despite inflationary pressures, at $1.49 per pound.

Over $2.9 billion was generated in sales revenues and

net earnings attributable to shareholders totalled

approximately $1.8 billion.

After considering these results, the Company’s sound

financial position and its growth prospects, our Board of

Directors elected to pay a total dividend of C$0.1750 per

share to shareholders of the Company in regards to

the 2012 financial year. This dividend is 15% of net

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

A FLEXIBLE, EFFICIENT 
and TRANSFERABLE
APPROACH to PROjECTS



earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company

(adjusted for unusual items) which is in line with

previous guidance.

ON-TIME, ON-BUDGET PROJECT EXECUTION

During 2012, we continued developing and delivering

on projects that are part of the transformational

growth the Company is undergoing. Construction was

completed on the state-of-the-art Kevitsa facility and

Kansanshi’s first stage oxide circuit expansion and

fifth acid plant. In addition, we began construction on

the Sentinel copper project, the Kansanshi copper

smelter and the second stage of Kansanshi’s oxide

circuit expansion. Design work was also started on the

Enterprise nickel project. In the first half of this year

we will begin construction on the expansion of

Kansanshi’s sulphide circuit.

Each of these projects would be a substantial addition

to any company. By the end of 2014 when they are

all scheduled to be complete: our annual copper

production capacity is expected to increase by

approximately 375,000 tonnes to over 680,000 tonnes;

our annual nickel production capacity to be over

100,000 tonnes; and our cost to produce copper lower

by between $340 million to $510 million.

On the strength of our current operations and these

projects alone, First Quantum would rank among the

world’s top ten producers of both copper and nickel

when they are in operation.

CREATING A NEW LEADER IN GLOBAL COPPER

It is with the same opportunistic approach we have

taken in building First Quantum from its inception that

we saw an opportunity to create a new leader in global

copper by acquiring Inmet Mining.

We are very pleased and grateful for the overwhelming

support that both the First Quantum and Inmet

shareholders gave us to make our vision a reality. With

their support, we were able to: relatively quickly close

the transaction; get to work on the integration; and

start to apply our experience and unique skills to the

development of Cobre Panama.

Our acquisition creates the largest pure copper player

in the sector, with approximately 80% of our revenues

derived from copper sales. Your Company now has a

portfolio of world-class operating and development

assets in eight countries across four continents, and a

long-standing commitment to social and environmental

THE COMBINATION OF THE FIRST QUANTUM AND 

INMET ASSETS CREATES A NEW LEADER IN COPPER

WITH A LONG STANDING COMMITMENT TO 

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE

 

   
               

 

By Others By Owner

The First Quantum Project Model Traditional Projects

By FQM By Others

Our project development philosophy
A finished project must perform to expectations 

+ Set ambitious targets for schedule, cost and 
performance

+ Adhere to time schedule
+ Adhere to capital cost budget



excellence. With its existing operations and projects,

the Company has a clear path to copper production in

excess of 1.3 million tonnes in 2018. On a pro forma

basis, copper production for 2012 was over

418,000 tonnes.

The immediate benefits are many. Our long-stated

objective of geographic diversification has been

substantially advanced. The combined company

has seven low-cost, stable operating assets, five of

which are in the Organization for Economic 

Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries.

This should have a positive impact on the Company’s

cost of capital, result in a higher trading multiple

and an eventual upward debt re-rating.

Our project development pipeline is further enhanced

with the addition of Cobre Panama, a large open-pit

copper development project in Panama. The project’s

current measured and indicated resources, including

the mineral reserves, contain 32.7 billion pounds

of copper and 9 million ounces of gold. It has a

potential mine life of 40 years assuming annual

production of approximately 300,000 tonnes of

copper per year.

Cobre Panama fits perfectly with First Quantum’s core

competency – project development in a new frontier.

We are confident that by applying our demanding

project development philosophy with the overarching

criteria that a finished project must perform to

expectation, we can add substantial value to the

benefit of our stakeholders.

OUR BELIEF IN THE LONG-TERM

FUNDAMENTALS OF COPPER 

Our acquisition of Inmet and our focused growth in

copper are based on our strong belief in the long-term

prospects for copper. This is a belief that we have held

since the Company’s beginnings. While the short-term

outlook is mixed, we believe that the long-term

fundamentals will be supported by: increased capital

intensity of copper consumption, particularly for

China, Brazil and India; the continuing depletion of

known copper resources; and the high barriers to entry

in bringing on new supply.

Altogether, we expect these factors will continue to

support a healthy copper price environment in which a

well-positioned company, such as First Quantum, will

do very well.

DRIVEN.
BOLDER, SMARTER,
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OUR PRIORITIES

2012 was a year of delivering on objectives and seizing

opportunities. I believe 2013 will bring to the fore

First Quantum’s credo of “Bolder, Smarter, Driven.” that

encapsulates the way we challenge ourselves and work.

We have several priorities. One of the most critical is to

assimilate the new employees to our workforce from

Inmet. Ours is a unique culture and we hope they find

it inspiring.

Bringing our current projects on line as planned is also

a priority. The interconnectivity of the expansions at

Kansanshi, the copper smelter and the development

of Sentinel makes the timing of their completion very

important. We have an excellent track record of on-

time and on-budget project development and are

confident of building on that record. 

For the Cobre Panama project, we intend to evaluate

the design and all other aspects of the project before

proceeding with the next steps. From experience we

know that each project presents its own unique

challenges, not only in terms of technical execution

but also in terms of managing the social and political

issues peculiar to the local jurisdiction. We will meet

these challenges by relying upon the valuable social

license that Inmet has cultivated in Panama and our

technical competencies and experience.

Cobre Panama is an important project for all the

stakeholders of our combined company. We are highly

confident that our unique technical capabilities and

project development philosophy will contribute

meaningfully and positively to the project’s

development.

THANK YOU

The significant achievements made by First Quantum

in 2012 and so far in 2013 were made possible by the

commitment of a dedicated workforce and supportive

stakeholders.

On behalf of our Board of Directors, I extend our

appreciation and our assurance to you that we

continue to strive to set a strategy for the Company

that is mutually beneficial and one that will earn your

continued commitment and support.

First Quantum is at an exciting time in its evolution,

we are proud to have you as partners as we create the

new leader in global copper. 

Signed by 

Philip K.R. Pascall, 

Chairman & CEO

Our unique, entrepreneurial culture
We expect every First Quantum employee to go further in
everything they do.

+ Challenge convention and find another way if they can see
room for improvement.

+ Think about problems, solve them and deliver results.
+ Never just accept the status quo.
+ Think independently.

These attitudes and behaviours have shaped our business 
in many ways and the result is an exciting and empowering 
culture, within which our employees have the space to 
build fulfilling careers.



Operating Mines

Kansanshi
Location: Zambia, north of Solwezi 
in the Northwestern Province
Ownership: 80%
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metal: Gold
Workforce: 1,700 persons

Guelb Moghrein
Location: Mauritania, 
northeast of Nouakchott
Ownership: 100%
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metal: Gold
Workforce: 1,470 persons

1
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Ravensthorpe
Location: Australia, Ravensthorpe
Ownership: 100%
Primary metal: Nickel
Secondary metal: Cobalt
Workforce: 400 persons

Kevitsa
Location: Finland, Lapland
Ownership: 100%
Primary metals: Copper and nickel 
Secondary metals:
Platinum group metals
Workforce: 280 persons
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Las Cruces
Location: Spain,
Sevilla Province
Ownership: 100%*
Primary metal: Copper
Workforce: 261 persons

Çayeli
Location: Turkey,
Black Sea coast of
northeastern Turkey
Ownership: 100%*
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metal: Zinc
Workforce: 496 persons

Pyhäsalmi 
Location: Finland,
central region
Ownership: 100%*
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metal: Zinc
Workforce: 263
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AT A GLANCE

OUR
GLOBAL REACH
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* Upon full acquisition



Development Projects

Kansanshi 
Copper Smelter
Location: Zambia, north of Solwezi
in the Northwestern Province
Ownership: 100%

Sentinel
Location: Zambia, 
Northwestern Province
Ownership: 100%
Primary metal: Copper

Enterprise
Location: Zambia,
Northwestern Province 
Ownership: 100%
Primary metal: Nickel

Haquira
Location: Peru,
Apurimac Department
Ownership: 100%
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metals: Molybdenum,
gold and silver

Cobre Panama
Location: Panama
Ownership: 80%*
Primary metal: Copper
Secondary metals: Gold and
molybdenum
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We have a portfolio of world-class assets 
in eight countries across four continents
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We expanded our production base in 2012.

First Quantum became a meaningful nickel
producer in 2012 with a full year of commercial
production at Ravensthorpe and the start-up
of Kevitsa. 

We increased our year-over-year copper and gold output. 

Our flagship Kansanshi mine turned in another
strong operating performance with its highest
production to date. 

We are maintaining our best-in-class growth profile.

In 2012, we began construction of our copper
smelter, Sentinel and Enterprise projects for
completion in 2014. 

OPERATIONS AND PROJECTS



ZAMBIA

2012 OPERATIONS  The strategy to focus on mine pit development and the expansion of the oxide circuit was a

success. Kansanshi recorded the highest annual production in its history. Copper and gold production increased 13% and

21%, respectively year-over-year. The mine’s unit cost of production increased slightly compared to 2011 reflecting

higher market prices for process inputs especially sulphuric acid, a key component in the production of copper cathode.

LOOKING FORWARD  We believe Kansanshi’s best years are yet to come. This belief is supported by the results of our

on-going, multi-year drilling program which extended the mine’s estimated life to 16 years at the 60% expanded

production capacity.

Copper-Gold mine

Kansanshi AuCu

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenues
 ($ millions)

 Cash Cost
(C1/lb)

Gold Production
(000’s ounces)

Copper Production
(000’s tonnes)

$494$507
$488$490

$1.45$1.46
$1.52$1.54 46

35

2827

2928

21

14

2012 Performance



MAURITANIA
Copper-Gold mine

Guelb Moghrein AuCu

2012 OPERATIONS  Guelb Moghrein had a solid operating year due, in large part, to the on-going optimization work.

Compared to 2011, throughput and copper production were higher by 14% and 7%, respectively. The mine’s unit cost of

production increased slightly year-over-year reflecting higher market prices for process inputs with some offset from the larger

gold by-product credit.    LOOKING FORWARD  Benefits from the on-going optimization work are expected to offset

projected slightly lower ore grades going forward. Among the projects scheduled for 2013 are upgrades to the haulage and

excavator fleets and the installation of a new semi-autogenous grinding mill.

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenues
 ($ millions)

 Cash Cost
(C1/lb)

Gold Production
(000’s ounces)

Copper Production
(000’s tonnes)

$127

$85
$91$90

$1.13

$1.43
$1.61

$1.84
17

13

1515
11

999

2012 Performance



AUSTRALIA

2012 OPERATIONS Ravensthorpe ramped up to design capacity within a few months of declaring commercial production.

Production of almost 33,000 tonnes of nickel was in line with the plan as all aspects of the operation either met or exceeded

expectations. This good performance was reflected in the mine’s lower than expected unit cost of production which averaged

$5.97 per pound of nickel. LOOKING FORWARD Process optimization efforts will continue across the operation to build on

the successes achieved to date. Particular attention will be on securing the most cost-efficient supplies of sulphur for use in the

sulphuric acid plant. Stable operation of the plant in 2012 had a significant and positive effect on the mine’s cost of production.

Nickel mine

Ravensthorpe Ni

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenues
 ($ millions)

 Cash Cost
(C1/lb)

Nickel Production
(000’s tonnes)

888

9

$94

$81$82

$129 $6.05
$6.43

$5.70$5.69

2012 Performance
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FINLAND
Nickel-Copper-PGE mine

Kevitsa PGECu

2012 OPERATIONS  This state-of-the-art facility was built, commissioned and brought into commercial production in less

than 36 months from the time of approval from the Board of Directors. In the fourth quarter, the mine’s first full quarter of

commercial production, it operated at higher-than-plan throughput rates. LOOKING FORWARD  As the mine ramps up to

steady state operations, plans are to increase mining activities and advance optimization work to improve nickel recoveries.

In the meantime, our application to increase the mine’s throughput level from the current approved 5.5 million tonnes per

year to a maximum of 10 million tonnes has been submitted to the relevant authorities for approval. 

Ni

 Q3 Q4  Q3 Q4  Q3 Q4  Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenues
 ($ millions)

 Cash Cost – Copper
(C1/lb)

Cash Cost – Nickel
(C1/lb)

Copper Production
(000’s tonnes)

$36$36

$1.75

$0.11

$6.37

$3.79

3

4

1

 Q2 Q3 Q4

 Nickel Production
(000’s tonnes)

2 2

0.1

    
   

2012 Performance
Note: Kevitsa began commercial
production in August, 2012



ZAMBIA
Cu

2012 ACTIVITIES  In 2012, significant progress was made at both the Sentinel and Enterprise projects. On the strength of

results from the extensive resource drill programs conducted on the projects, the Board of Directors granted development

approval. By the end of the year, the Sentinel project was approximately 20% complete and orders had been placed for the

SAG and ball mills for Enterprise. LOOKING FORWARD  The total approved capital investment of $2 billion will include a

state-of-the-art copper mine with the capability of producing between 270,000 tonnes to 300,000 tonnes of copper per year

and a low-cost nickel mine capable of producing an average of 38,000 tonnes of nickel in concentrate per year with scope to

increase to 60,000 tonnes when nickel market conditions allow.

Copper project

Sentinel
Nickel project

Enterprise Ni
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ZAMBIA
Copper project

Copper Smelter

2012 ACTIVITIES  Since receiving approval from our Board of Directors in November, 2011, the copper smelter project has

been advanced significantly. By the end of 2012, the detailed design works were well progressed, the majority of equipment

packages already ordered and earthworks construction approximately 85% complete. The mechanical installation phase

began in early 2013 towards construction completion in mid-2014 which will be followed by commissioning and ramp up.

LOOKING FORWARD  The smelter will have an annual processing capacity of 1.2 million tonnes per year of concentrate

and, on a yearly basis, its operation is expected to save Kansanshi and Sentinel together between $340 million and $510 million

in transport, export levies and the cost of purchased sulphuric acid. 

Cu



2012 ACTIVITIES  We did not progress our drilling program during the year due to changes in the permitting process.

However, detailed soil sampling on targets identified in our 2012 helicopter magnetic survey has confirmed several areas,

within the Haquira tenure, to follow up on when our program resumes. LOOKING FORWARD  In 2013, the main focus will

be mainly on the community and environmental aspects of Haquira’s proposed development. 

PERU
Cu

Copper project

Haquira

15
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Expanding our exploration and resource development activities. 

We have operations underway in nine countries
on four continents ranging from grassroots activity
to advanced resource development programs.

Delivering value through our investment in exploration. 

Among our program’s many successes to date
are the discoveries of the Lonshi, Frontier and
Fishtie ore bodies.

Becoming a partner-of-choice for exploration companies.

We are working with joint-venture partners
on highly prospective targets in Argentina, Turkey
and Peru. 

EXPLORATION



�

��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

1

2 3
4

5
6

7 8

9

10

�

17

2012 ACTIVITIES It was a busy year with over 40 drill rigs operating around the world. Resource definition drilling was

completed at the main Enterprise deposit and the project’s first resource and reserves estimate issued. At Kansanshi, several

years of intense drilling have culminated in a major resource upgrade expanding the tonnage by 121% and estimated contained

copper by 74%. With the total estimated Kansanshi resource tonnage now exceeding 1.1 billion tonnes, these results provide an

excellent foundation for the mine’s multi-stage expansion plans. LOOKING FORWARD While significant near-mine resource

expansion programs continue, our teams are also focused on discovering the next generation of copper and nickel deposits.

This includes working together with joint-venture partners on early-stage porphyry copper prospects worldwide.

1 Zambia

2 Mauritania

3 Burkina Faso

4 Ivory Coast

5 Botswana

6 Peru

7 Chile

8 Argentina

9 Finland 

10 Turkey
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We continue to deliver on our socio-economic objectives.

Our social investment continues to increase year-over-
year with over US$38 million or 7% of net earnings
after tax invested in 2012, an increase of almost 3%
over the prior year.

Our commitment to the health and safety of our employees is

a top priority.

We continuously review and improve our safety
management systems to ensure they are both
practicable and straightforward as we advance on
our objective of reducing risk and zero fatalities.

We are making steady progress towards sustainable growth and

sustainable communities.

Our comprehensive CSR program at the Trident project
is typical of our approach to sustainable growth. This
includes environmental assessment and monitoring,
preservation of forest reserves, rehabilitation of
disturbed areas, health care, education and training
programs and resettlement of communities.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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WE PURSUE OUR SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY BY � Operating in a responsible manner towards employees through

fair and equitable practices managed with a well-developed and implemented HR system � Caring for the well-being of our

employees by implementing Health and Safety management systems based on the OHSAS/BSI 18001 standard � Minimizing

environmental impacts through implementation of an ISO 14001-based environmental management system � Reducing

negative health impacts through community development and HIV/Aids programs � Preventing and reducing health-related

impacts relating to First Quantum’s activities by managing environmental risks at source � Monitoring potential risks posed

by security contractors employed by the Company’s operations � Transparent reporting on operations and activities

� Synergy of Environmental, Health and Safety, Human Resources, Community Development and Security Systems to

enhance our CSR programs.

 

   
               

 

59%

29%

1%
3%

8%

Our Social Investment

Zambia

Mauritania

Peru

Australia

Other



WE PURSUE OUR SOCIO-ECONOMIC PROGRAMS BY  � Improving health care through the provision of health facilities

and service providers � Improving infrastructure and basic services in communities such as roads, housing, water, electricity

and sanitation, amongst others � Improving education infrastructure and services � Facilitating access to enterprise

development opportunities for local entrepreneurs.

5 Key areas 
of focus of our 
CSR program

Governance & Risk
Our Board of Directors believes that 
SOUND corporate governance practices are
essential to the well-being of the Company
and its shareholders, and that these practices
should be reviewed regularly to ensure that
they are appropriate.
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EMPLOYEE HEALTH  Employee health and occupational illness is a key focus area for our Company. We continually monitor

occupational exposure to gas, dust and noise. In addition, safety departments endeavour to ensure employees wear the correct

personal protective equipment to mitigate potential exposure to these hazards. JOB CREATION  Over 8,000 direct jobs are

created at our operations with substantially more generated through the multiplier effect. 

Social
The overall objective of our socio-
economic development programs
and projects is to improve the
QUALITY OF LIFE for our employees,
their families and our immediate
communities.

Economics
We regard our most significant
CSR achievement to be our economic
CONTRIBUTION to our host
communities where our operations
make a major difference in the
communities.

Environment
We ensure that all of our subsidiaries
and projects operate in a manner
to PROTECT the long-term health of
the communities where we operate
and in an environmentally sound
manner.

Labour
We incorporate internationally
accepted occupational health and
safety standards and procedures
throughout our operations. We comply
with all national health and safety laws
in creating SAFE workplaces at
our operations. 



22

Our Unique 
Investment 
Dynamics DRIVING
Shareholder VALUE.

DRIVING
VALUE.

Copper production of
307,115 tonnes included
record production at
Kansanshi and the
contribution from Kevitsa,
which achieved commercial
production in August 2012.
This is the Company’s second
project successfully
commissioned within the
past year.
MD&A, Page 25

Sales revenues rose 14% over
2011 from increased copper
and gold sales volumes and
commercial production
at Ravensthorpe and
Kevitsa. Positive volume
contributions were partially
offset by lower average
realized copper prices.
MD&A, Page 35

Sentinel and Enterprise
construction activities
continued to ramp up
following the approval from
the Company’s Board of
Directors. Project capital
costs were estimated at
approximately $2.0 billion
with project completion
unchanged and expected
during 2014.
MD&A, Page 32

 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12  05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12  11 12  05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12  05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12

 Copper Production
(000’s tonnes)

  Nickel Production
(000’s tonnes)

Gold Production
(000’s ounces)

Sales Revenue
($ millions)

Comparative Earnings
($ millions)

307
37 202 $2,950

$555
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ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis
For the year ended December 31, 2012

In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted.
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24 First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 2012 Annual Report  Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial

statements of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (“First Quantum” or “the Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2012. The

Company’s results have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are presented

in United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted. Changes in accounting policies have been applied

consistently to comparative periods unless otherwise noted.

For further information on First Quantum, reference should be made to its public filings (including its most recently filed AIF) which

are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Information is also available on the Company’s website at www.first-quantum.com. This

MD&A contains forward-looking information that is subject to risk factors, see “Regulatory Disclosures” for further discussion.

Information on risks associated with investing in the Company’s securities and technical and scientific information under National

Instrument 43-101 concerning the Company’s material properties, including information about mineral resources and reserves, are

contained in its most recently filed AIF. This MD&A has been prepared as of March 5, 2013.

suMMaRiZeD oPeRating anD Financial Results

Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Copper production (tonnes) 84,918 84,144 67,316 307,115 265,576

Copper sales (tonnes) 77,570 77,396 65,638 295,466 273,257

Cash cost of copper production (C1)1 (per lb) $ 1.42 $ 1.44 $ 1.53 $ 1.49 $ 1.41

Realized copper price (per lb) $ 3.46 $ 3.45 $ 3.33 $ 3.51 $ 3.87

Nickel production (contained tonnes) 10,096 9,916 5,666 36,759 5,666

Nickel sales (contained tonnes) 8,081 7,120 1,388 30,379 1,388

Cash cost of nickel production (C1)1 (per lb) $ 6.12 $ 6.24 – $ 5.92 –

Realized nickel price (per payable lb) $ 7.74 $ 7.69 – $ 7.96 –

Gold production (ounces) 64,383 50,784 43,524 201,942 175,225

Gold sales (ounces) 61,350 48,889 49,209 202,303 180,442

Sales revenues 774.6 724.8 567.3 2,950.4 2,583.5

Gross profit 295.0 261.0 182.7 1,101.0 1,308.0

EBITDA1 309.7 276.2 180.6 2,361.2 1,232.1

Net earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company 186.7 107.3 76.0 1,772.9 528.9

Earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.16 $ 3.74 $ 1.18

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.16 $ 3.72 $ 1.18

Comparative earnings2 186.7 107.3 78.9 555.0 580.5

Comparative earnings per share2 $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.17 $ 1.17 $ 1.30

1 Cash costs (C1) and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.
2 Earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company have been adjusted to remove the effect of unusual items to arrive at comparative earnings. Comparative earnings and

comparative earnings per share are not measures recognized under IFRS and do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. The Company has disclosed these

measures to assist with the understanding of results and to provide further financial information about the results to investors. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for a reconciliation

of comparative earnings. 

ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis
For the year ended December 31, 2012
In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted.
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Results FoR Full yeaR 2012

Production

Copper production 16% higher than 2011; new annual production record set at Kansanshi

� Copper production of 307,115 tonnes included record production at Kansanshi, primarily due to an increase in sulphide grades

and throughput, and the contribution from Kevitsa which achieved commercial production in August 2012 following a successful

commissioning and rapid ramp-up phase at the nickel and copper operation. This is the second project successfully

commissioned by the Company during the past year.

Nickel production of 36,759 tonnes after first full year of production from Ravensthorpe 

� Results from the new nickel business included Ravensthorpe’s first full year of production and the commencement of production

from Kevitsa.

Gold production 15% higher than 2011

� Gold production of 201,942 ounces resulting from gold circuit enhancements at Kansanshi which yielded higher recoveries and

the first contribution from Kevitsa. 

copper production cash costs increased 6% 

� Average copper production cash cost of $1.49 per pound reflects a downward trend throughout the year as increased sulphuric

acid cost was partially offset by higher by-product credits.

sales revenues 14% higher than 2011

� Sales revenues rose to $2,950.4 million from increased copper and gold sales volumes and commercial production at

Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa. Positive volume contributions were partially offset by lower average realized copper prices.

gross profit 16% lower than 2011

� Gross profit of $1,101.0 million was negatively impacted by the 9% lower average realized copper price and inflationary increases

in operating costs which outweighed higher sales volumes and the contribution from Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa. 

net earnings attributable to shareholders of the company increased to $1,772.9 million

� Earnings included a $1,217.9 million gain on disposal of République démocratique du Congo (“RDC”) residual claims and assets.

2012 comparative earnings were lower than 2011 predominately due to the lower year-over-year average realized copper price

and inflationary cost pressures which were partially offset by the contribution from Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa.

Results FoR Q4 2012

Production

� Total copper production improved 26% over Q4 2011 with higher sulphide grades and higher throughput as a result of the

continued expansion of the oxide circuit at Kansanshi, higher throughput rates at Guelb Moghrein and the contribution

from Kevitsa. 

� Total nickel production improved 78% over Q4 2011 with a full quarter of commercial production at both the Ravensthorpe and

Kevitsa operations.

� Total gold production improved 48% over Q4 2011 with higher grades and recovery rates at Kansanshi together with the

contribution from Kevitsa.

copper production cash costs

� Copper production cash costs decreased from Q4 2011 due to lower mining and freight costs and higher by-product credits. 

sales revenues

� Sales revenues increased by 37% from Q4 2011 with increased copper and gold sales volumes, higher average realized copper

and gold prices and the contribution from Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa.
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gross profit

� Q4 2012 gross profit of $295.0 million was 61% higher than Q4 2011 with higher sales volumes, higher average realized copper

and gold prices, lower copper production cash costs and the contribution from Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa.

net earnings

� Q4 2012 net earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company were higher than Q4 2011 due to higher copper and gold

average realized prices, higher sales volumes, lower copper production cash costs and the contribution of Ravensthorpe

and Kevitsa. 

� Reduction of the effective income tax rate for the quarter as a result of a number of non-recurring factors that include the

recognition of previously unrecognized tax.

significant advancement of development projects and exploration activities

� Benefit from expansion of the oxide processing circuit at Kansanshi to 7.2 million tonnes per annum (“Mtpa”) was seen in the

oxide throughput during Q4 2012. The stage two expansion to 14.5 Mtpa is scheduled for completion and commencement of

commissioning from mid-2013.

� Detailed design work and construction on the Kansanshi smelter is progressing well and all major equipment has been ordered.

The project remains on schedule for construction completion in mid-2014 followed by commissioning and ramp up.

� Construction of the Sentinel project is on schedule. Board approval was received to increase the plant throughput from 40 Mtpa

to 55 Mtpa. 

� Board approval was granted for the expansion of the sulphide treatment facilities at Kansanshi by construction of a new section

of plant capable of treating up to 25 Mtpa of sulphide ore. Construction of this new plant is to commence in the first half of 2013.

� A significant resource and reserve upgrade was announced at Kansanshi with initial comparative estimates showing the mineral

resource tonnage has increased by approximately 121% and total contained copper increased by 74%.

� Maiden resource estimates for the Enterprise project confirmed the potential for an operation capable of producing on average

38,000 tonnes nickel per annum with scope to increase to 60,000 tonnes when nickel market conditions allow. On the strength of

this resource estimate, Board approval was granted for the development of this project.

Balance sheet positioned to support growth initiatives

� On October 10, 2012, the Company completed the offering of $350.0 million of Senior Notes due 2019. Interest will accrue at the

rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-annually.

� On January 30, 2012, a five-year $1.0 billion senior term and revolving facility was signed for Kansanshi Mining PLC to enable the

execution of planned capital projects at Kansanshi.

� On January 5, 2012, the Company reached an agreement with Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation PLC (“ENRC”) to dispose of

its residual RDC claims and assets for $1.25 billion. The agreement closed on March 2, 2012 with the Company receiving payment

of $750.0 million and a three-year promissory note for $500.0 million. 

other corporate developments

� On January 9, 2013, the Company announced that it has formally commenced an offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares

of Inmet Mining Corporation (“Inmet”) for total consideration of approximately C$5.1 billion. Inmet shareholders have the

opportunity to elect shares in the Company, cash, or a combination thereof, subject to an overall consideration mix of

approximately 50% in shares and 50% in cash. The offer is open until March 11, 2013.

� The Company has declared a final dividend of C$0.1147 per share in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2012.

The final dividend of C$0.1147, together with the interim dividend of C$0.0603, is a total of C$0.1750 for the 2012 financial year.

This total dividend paid for the 2012 financial year is 15% of net earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company (adjusted for

unusual items) which is in line with the 15% of net earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company used as guidance in 2011.
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operational outlook for 2013

Production

Group Kansanshi Guelb Moghrein Ravensthorpe Kevitsa

Copper (000’s tonnes) 302–330 250–270 37–41 – 15–19

Nickel (000’s contained tonnes) 40–45 – – 31–35 9–10

Gold (000’s ounces) 190–215 126–140 52–61 – 12–14

� Expected average cash cost of approximately; $1.50 to $1.60 per pound of copper.

� Expected average cash cost of approximately; $5.50 to $6.00 per pound of nickel.

� Expected total capital expenditure of approximately $2.0 billion in 2013.

oPeRations

Kansanshi Copper and Gold Operation Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Sulphide ore tonnes milled (000’s) 2,679 2,763 1,628 9,254 8,855

Sulphide ore grade processed (%) 1.0 0.9 0.6 1.0 0.7

Sulphide copper recovery (%) 92 92 92 93 91

Mixed ore tonnes milled (000’s) 1,951 1,955 2,986 8,561 8,377

Mixed ore grade processed (%) 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0

Mixed copper recovery (%) 74 77 64 69 63

Oxide ore tonnes milled (000’s) 1,738 1,500 1,492 6,210 6,072

Oxide ore grade processed (%) 2.0 2.6 2.3 2.2 2.3

Oxide copper recovery (%) 90 84 88 86 86

Copper production (tonnes) 70,431 71,484 59,163 261,351 230,295

Copper sales (tonnes) 61,758 65,830 54,036 249,884 235,832

Gold production (ounces) 45,410 35,245 29,580 136,056 112,286

Gold sales (ounces) 38,179 33,510 27,742 131,159 114,488

Cash costs (C1) (per lb)1 $ 1.45 $ 1.46 $ 1.52 $ 1.49 $ 1.41

Total costs (C3) (per lb)1 $ 1.90 $ 1.86 $ 1.90 $ 1.88 $ 1.70

Sales revenues 494.3 507.1 405.7 1,979.9 2,048.3

Gross profit 238.0 223.8 186.2 929.4 1,187.1

EBITDA1 251.1 240.4 202.3 995.9 1,263.0

1 C1 and C3 costs and EBITDA are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.

Full year operating results 

Full year copper production increased by 13% from 2011 to a record of 261,351 tonnes in 2012. This was achieved mainly through an

increase in grade, specifically in sulphide ore, as well as increases in throughput and recovery. Throughput increased as a result of

plant expansions completed as part of Kansanshi’s multi-stage plant upgrade to an annual production capacity of 400,000 tonnes of

copper metal.

Annual production from the sulphide circuit was significantly higher than in 2011 due to higher ore grades processed during the

year. Ongoing mine pit development work has established significantly wider pits and improved access to various ore types at

target grades to coincide with the plant expansions underway. Specifically, this work led to an increase in the availability of sulphide

ore at target grades in addition to the circuits being reconfigured during Q2 2012 to the current capacity of 12 Mtpa for sulphide

and 6.5 Mtpa for mixed ore treatment. 

The mixed ore circuit achieved increased recoveries and grade, while throughput remained consistent with the prior year. Following

the circuit interchange in Q2 2012, the reduced throughput on the mixed circuit allowed longer residence time in flotation resulting

in improved recoveries. In the second half of the year, throughput significantly exceeded capacity of 6.5 Mtpa due to optimization

of the front end, improving plant availability and utilization.
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Year-on-year the oxide circuit achieved slightly higher throughput, which has been offset by lower grades. The effect of completion

of the oxide expansion works to 7.2 Mtpa allowed increased throughput in Q4 2012. The limited availability of locally-sourced

sulphuric acid meant that most of the high grade, higher acid consuming oxide ore was stockpiled in 2012. 

Gold production was 21% higher than in 2011 as a result of gold circuit enhancements and improvements resulting in higher recoveries.

Year-on-year cash costs have increased by 6% from 2011, however there has been a downward trend throughout the year with cash

costs decreasing each quarter to $1.45 per lb in Q4 2012. An increase in the gold credit in 2012 was largely offset by an increase in

treatment and refining charges. The increase in costs compared to 2011 is mainly due to an increase in processing costs including

higher acid costs. 

Full year sales revenues decreased by 3% compared to the prior year despite an increase in copper sales volumes of 6% and an

increase in gold sales volumes of 15%. These increases in sales volumes were offset by a decrease in net realized copper prices of

9%. The effect of these lower realized copper prices is also seen at the gross profit level which fell 22% to $929.4 million from

$1,187.1 million in 2011. 

Q4 operating results 

Copper production increased by 19% from Q4 2011 due to increased throughput, grades and recoveries. Throughput in Q4 2012

increased as a result of the oxide circuit expansion works and benefited from a later than usual start to the Zambian rainy season. 

The exposure of sulphide ore faces at target grades, as a result of the mine pit development work, led to the increased sulphide

grades in Q4 2012 compared to the prior year. 

Mixed ore throughput in Q4 2012 continued to exceed the 6.5 Mtpa design capacity. Increased recoveries compared to Q4 2011

resulted from the longer residence time in flotation. 

Oxide throughput has increased 16% from Q4 2011 as a result of the completion of the oxide expansion to 7.2 Mtpa capacity in

Q3 2012. This increase in throughput has been offset by a decrease in grade as high-grade, high acid-consuming ore was stockpiled

in the quarter. 

Gold production was 54% higher than Q4 2011 as a result of gold circuit enhancements resulting in higher recoveries.

Q4 2012 C1 costs decreased by $0.07 per lb from Q4 2011. C1 costs benefited from lower mining costs and an increased gold credit

as a result of higher gold sales volumes and a higher net realized gold price. This benefit outweighed higher acid costs. 

Sales revenues and gross profit increased by 22% and 28% respectively in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. The increase in sales

revenues reflects both an increase in sales volumes and higher realized prices. Gross profit was higher than Q4 2011 due primarily

to higher realized copper prices offset partially by higher royalty rates. The Zambian copper royalty rate was increased from 3% to

6%, effective April 2012, being the principal reason for the increase of $18.6 million in the royalty expense in Q4 2012 compared

to Q4 2011. 

Smelters in Zambia are at or near capacity, and as a result of increased copper in concentrate production at Kansanshi, this has

meant that inventory has increased at the end of Q4 2012. 

Compared to Q3 2012, Kansanshi has achieved a steady state with the exception of the oxide circuit, where oxide expansions

have increased throughput in Q4 2012 offset by a decrease in ore grade as high-grade, high acid-consuming ore was stockpiled.

Mixed ore recoveries have decreased due to a less favourable blend of sulphide and oxide ore processed. Cash costs were

consistent with Q3 2012.

Outlook

Production in 2013 is expected to be between 250,000 and 270,000 tonnes of copper, and 126,000 and 140,000 ounces of gold. 

The reduction in mining rates during the wet season will impact on progress in opening up mining areas and hence oxide ore

availability. This, in turn, is expected to result in on-going variation in feed quality with respect to copper grade and gangue acid

consumption (GAC). Two mobile screening plants, received and commissioned in Q4 2012 will continue to assist in reducing the

GAC of ore ahead of processing.
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The construction of the fifth acid plant was completed and commissioning occurred during Q4 2012 with minor process changes

planned for Q1 2013. In the medium term, some of Kansanshi’s mining areas for oxide ore are characterized as high-grade, high

acid-consuming ore. Currently the supply of sulphuric acid from acid plants requires the import of sulphur at high costs.

Consideration will be given to withholding the high-grade, high acid-consuming ore from production until acid is available at

minimal cost from the Kansanshi smelter. If this decision is made, the capacity of the oxide expansions and fifth acid plant may not

be fully exploited.

Copper in concentrate inventory levels may remain at year-end levels in the short term unless there is a change in smelter capacity

levels or a temporary export permit can be obtained.

Sulphide ore processing is expected to remain strong. Refinements to the process control systems across mill and float are expected

to maintain and further enhance metallurgical performance in the sulphide circuit through increased circuit stability and rapid

automated response to mineralogical and process variations.

Guelb Moghrein Copper and Gold Operation Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Sulphide ore tonnes milled (000’s) 825 687 634 3,062 2,691

Sulphide ore grade processed (%) 1.4 1.3 1.4 1.3 1.4

Sulphide copper recovery (%) 93 94 91 91 91

Copper production (tonnes) 11,038 8,656 8,155 37,670 35,281

Copper sales (tonnes) 13,007 8,962 11,601 40,174 35,774

Gold production (ounces) 16,802 12,827 13,943 60,519 62,938

Gold sales (ounces) 20,864 13,631 21,467 67,089 65,954

Cash costs (C1) (per lb)1 $ 1.13 $ 1.43 $ 1.63 $ 1.48 $ 1.46

Total costs (C3) (per lb)1 $ 1.69 $ 1.93 $ 2.45 $ 2.04 $ 2.20

Sales revenues 127.3 85.6 97.2 394.4 346.2

Gross profit 47.5 24.3 3.5 117.7 127.8

EBITDA1 54.2 29.6 20.9 142.4 157.7

1 C1 and C3 costs and EBITDA are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.

Full year operating results 

2012 copper production was 7% higher than in the prior year. Efforts are ongoing to maintain steady state operations and

throughput has increased by 14% year-on-year. The better throughput performance in 2012 is a result of the mill optimization

works and improved blast fragmentation. 

There was a slight decrease in copper grades, year-on-year, however there was an increase in the last quarter of 2012 reflecting the

current ore profile in the pit. 

Cash costs increased by $0.02 per lb to $1.48 per lb compared to the prior year. A larger gold credit has been offset by an increase in

mining costs specifically for explosives, contractors and equipment hire. 

2012 sales revenues increased by 14% compared to 2011 reflecting an increase in copper sales volumes of 12% offset by a lower net

realized price. 2012 sales revenues also benefited from higher gold sales volumes. Gross profit fell by 8% due to increased costs for

personnel, maintenance and consumables partially offset by the increase in sales revenues. 

Q4 operating results 

Q4 2012 copper production increased by 35% from Q4 2011, mainly as a result of increased throughput rates. A record quarterly

throughput rate of 825,000 tonnes was achieved in Q4 2012 due to ball mill optimization work and better fragmentation of ore.

Copper recovery in Q4 2012 increased following a circuit reconfiguration in Q3 2012 allowing longer flotation residence time which

has increased recoveries. 

Gold production increased by 21% from Q4 2011 with higher throughput partially offset by slightly lower grade and recovery. 
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Cash costs in Q4 2012 are 31% lower than Q4 2011 as a result of lower processing costs, site administration costs and treatment and

refining charges. Cash costs also benefited from the unit cost effect of producing 35% more copper. 

Sales revenues and gross profit have both increased in comparison to Q4 2011 with a 40% increase in copper sales revenues and a

12% increase in gold sales revenues. The increase in sales revenues reflects both an increase in copper sales volumes and higher

realized prices. This increase in revenues and lower cash operating costs drove the increase in gross profit. 

Increases in throughput and grade drove the 28% increase in copper production in Q4 2012 compared to Q3 2012. Gold production

increased by 31% from Q3 2012.

Outlook

Production in 2013 is expected to be between 37,000 and 41,000 tonnes of copper, and between 52,000 and 61,000 ounces of gold.

Production is expected to benefit from higher volumes of material mined exposing ore in two additional cutbacks.  

Process plant enhancements continue with a focus on better availability in the grinding circuit to achieve more consistent operation

at steady state to maintain throughput rates as ore grades are expected to be slightly lower than those in 2012. The project to install

an additional mill from the mothballed Bwana Mkubwa copper plant that was planned for Q4 2012 has been replaced by a new SAG

mill project which is now under design and planning. Commissioning is expected in mid-2014.

Ravensthorpe Nickel Operation Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Beneficiated ore tonnes processed (000’s) 687 733 645 2,811 645

Beneficiated ore grade processed (%) 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.5 1.3

Nickel recovery (%) 78 77 68 77 68

Nickel production (contained tonnes) 8,227 8,032 5,666 32,884 5,666

Nickel sales (contained tonnes) 7,288 6,272 1,388 28,738 1,388

Nickel production (payable tonnes) 6,338 6,188 4,189 25,347 4,189

Nickel sales (payable tonnes) 5,425 4,790 1,110 21,857 1,110

Cash costs (C1) (per lb)1 $ 6.05 $ 6.43 $ – $ 5.97 $ –

Total costs (C3) (per lb)1 $ 7.33 $ 7.84 $ – $ 7.25 $ –

Sales revenues 94.3 81.3 – 387.7 –

Gross profit (loss) 2.8 (1.6) – 42.5 –

EBITDA 14.6 6.4 – 82.3 –

1 C1 and C3 costs and EBITDA are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.

Full year operating results 

2012 was Ravensthorpe’s first full year of production after reaching commercial production on December 28, 2011. The year has

seen Ravensthorpe ramp up to design capacity in the earlier months of the year and commencing in-pit mining in Q2 2012. By

Q3 2012, the majority of the ore feed was being sourced from the pit and nickel production for the full year was in line with plan as

a result of steady state operation of the complete circuit. Nickel grades and recoveries have remained consistent through the year.

C1 costs for the year consistently beat guidance and ended the year at $5.97 per lb against original full year guidance in Q1 2012 of

$6.60 per lb to $6.80 per lb. At the beginning of the year, low cost sulphur inventory contributed to a lower cost of production.

Throughout the year, the consistent operation of the sulphuric acid plant which generates power as a by-product, provided for

sufficient and stable power generation for the operation and reduced diesel costs. Ore costs increased as the mining operations

moved to the main pit in the second half of 2012. 

Q4 operating results 

Limonite ore availability was limited early in Q4 2012 which resulted in new mining areas being opened up to provide a future

source of ore. Mining activity continued to feed ore to the crushers with a limited amount of material stockpiled to accommodate

crusher availability. 
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C1 costs have decreased in Q4 2012 compared to Q3 2012. Lower processing costs in the quarter were driven by lower sulphur costs

as well as processing circuit improvements which have resulted in savings in flocculent consumption. A lower C1 cost was achieved

despite a $0.07 per lb increase in mining costs resulting from additional waste being mined. 

Outlook

Production in 2013 is expected to be between 31,000 and 35,000 tonnes of nickel.

Crushing plants and beneficiation are expected to continue to operate well in 2013. A number of circuit improvements in

beneficiation during Q1 2013 are expected to result in improvements in plant utilization. Processing circuit enhancements in Q4

2012 have already resulted in savings and the same focus will now be extended to the operation of the CCD’s.

The sulphuric acid plant is expected to continue to have stable operations with efficient use of power distribution, significantly

reduced diesel fuel consumption and associated savings. Taking advantage of lower cost sulphur opportunities with associated

logistical improvements will remain a focus for Ravensthorpe.

Post- Pre-
commercial commercial
production production

Kevitsa Nickel-Copper-PGE1 Operation Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q3 2012 2012 2011

Ore tonnes milled (000’s) 1,413 687 720 3,138 –

Nickel ore grade processed (%) 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 –

Nickel recovery (%) 59 60 54 56 –

Nickel production (tonnes) 1,870 1,041 843 3,875 –

Nickel sales (tonnes) 792 848 – 1,640 –

Copper ore grade processed (%) 0.3 0. 3 0.3 0.3 –

Copper recovery (%) 84 84 87 83 –

Copper production (tonnes) 3,448 1,874 2,130 8,094 –

Copper sales (tonnes) 2,805 2,604 1,040 6,448 –

Gold production (ounces) 2,172 1,431 1,282 5,367 –

Platinum production (ounces) 6,123 3,926 3,174 13,808 –

Palladium production (ounces) 5,419 3,373 2,827 12,183 –

Nickel cash costs (C1) (per lb)2 $ 6.37 $ 3.79 $ – $ 5.47 $ –

Nickel total costs (C3) (per lb)2 $ 7.19 $ 5.35 $ – $ 6.54 $ –

Copper cash costs (C1) (per lb)2 $ 1.75 $ 0.11 $ – $ 1.28 $ –

Copper total costs (C3) (per lb)2 $ 3.06 $ 1.49 $ – $ 2.61 $ –

Sales revenues 36.5 35.6 – 72.1 –

Gross profit 6.4 17.5 – 23.9 –

EBITDA 11.2 23.6 – 34.8 –

1 Platinum-group elements (“PGE”)
2 C1 and C3 costs and EBITDA are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.

Q4 2012 marked the first full quarter of commercial production for Kevitsa. Throughput rates exceeded expectations whilst

recoveries were below life of mine targets due to the weathered nature of the initial ore processed. Slightly lower feed grades in line

with life of mine plans has resulted in lower output of copper and nickel compared to Q3 2012. 

There has been steady improvement in both mining capacity and the efficiency of machinery operations, the latter of which has

been affected during the first period of commercial production in the Arctic winter. 

Nickel and copper cash costs increased over Q3 2012 with a ramp up in contractor usage and maintenance costs in line with plan

and higher electricity costs due to an increase in electricity tariffs which is normal for the time of year. Copper by-product credits

decreased from Q3 2012 as Q3 2012 benefited from the sale of production from the commissioning phase. Nickel by-product

credits were unfavorably impacted by some stockpiling of nickel concentrate in the quarter.
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Outlook

Production in 2013 is expected to be between 15,000 and 19,000 tonnes of copper, between 9,000 and 10,000 tonnes of nickel and

12,000 to 14,000 ounces of gold.

In Q1 2013, mining is planned to ramp up to a full seven days per week shift roster as opposed to the five days per week system

implemented for the majority of 2012. Mining volumes have been set at 12.9 Mt of waste and 7.3 Mt of ore equating to a strip ratio

of 1.8. The amount of weathered ore going into the plant is expected to reduce in the first half of 2013. Pre-stripping the Stage two

cutback will commence in the first half of 2013. 

A focus on improving nickel recoveries and achieving pilot study levels has been ongoing for several months. Different scenarios of

flotation kinetics are being trialed and sampled during Q1 2013 for further optimization work.

The Company has submitted an environmental assessment and application to increase the plant throughput rate from the current

approved 5.5 Mtpa up to a maximum of 10 Mtpa. Liaison with the relevant authorities is in progress with respect to granting of the

upgraded permit. 

DeVeloPMent actiVities

Kansanshi expansions, Zambia 

The multi-stage Kansanshi plant upgrade to an annual production capacity of 400,000 tonnes of copper continues into 2013.

The Stage one oxide circuit expansion to 7.2 Mtpa was completed in Q2 2012 and optimized during Q3 2012 with the benefits

being seen in the oxide throughput of Q4 2012. Progress on the Stage two oxide capacity expansion to 14.5 Mtpa continued with a

phased commissioning commencing from mid-2013. The expansion encompasses additional crushing, flotation, leach tanks,

CCD thickeners, solvent extraction, electro-winning and associated ancillary systems and equipment. Acid supply and economics

will dictate the rate of oxide treatment until the smelter is commissioned in mid-2014 however the output of the five acid plants as

well as the current volume of acid that can be externally sourced will allow for interim treatment rates of approximately 10 Mtpa.

The second phase of the 400,000 tonne annual production capacity expansion project is an expansion of the sulphide treatment

facilities by construction of a new section of plant capable of treating up to 25 Mtpa of sulphide ore. Board approval has been

granted for the project and construction of this new plant is planned to commence in the first half of 2013. 

copper smelter project, Zambia 

Kansanshi’s concentrate is currently treated at smelters in Zambia, however, existing domestic smelting capacity will be insufficient

to process the substantial increase in production resulting from the Kansanshi expansion and the Sentinel project. The new copper

smelter is designed to process 1.2 million tonnes of concentrate to produce over 300,000 tonnes of copper metal annually. The

smelter is also expected to produce 1.0 million tonnes of sulphuric acid as a by-product at a low cost which will benefit Kansanshi

by allowing the treatment of high acid-consuming oxide ores and the leaching of some mixed ores. The additional acid is also

expected to optimize the expansion of the oxide leach facilities and allow improved recoveries of leachable minerals in material

now classified and treated as mixed ore. 

Detailed design works on the smelter are well progressed and all of the major equipment packages have been ordered. On site,

earthworks construction is approximately 85% complete and concrete pouring is 20% complete. Mechanical installation

commenced in January 2013. The project is scheduled for construction completion in mid-2014 followed by commissioning

and ramp up.

sentinel project, Zambia

A mineral resource and reserve estimate for the Sentinel copper project was released in March 2012. An estimated measured and

indicated resource of 1,027 Mt at 0.51% copper grade, containing 5.2 Mt of copper has been delineated, inclusive of an estimated

recoverable proven and probable mineral reserve of 774 Mt at 0.50% copper grade, containing 3.9 Mt of copper. The life of mine

strip ratio is anticipated to be 2.2 and the estimated mine life is in excess of 15 years. An infill drilling programme has commenced

to identify further detail of the geological resources that will be encountered during the initial years of operation.

The project is expected to produce between 270,000 and 300,000 tonnes of copper in concentrate annually. 
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Sentinel construction activities continued to ramp up in Q4 2012 following the approval from the Company’s Board of Directors.

Project milestones to the end of December 2012 include detailed design engineering 70% complete; construction completion of

process plant earthworks for the major equipment areas; over 30,000 cubic metres of concrete poured on site; and approximately

3,000 tonnes of structural steel fabricated with approximately 1,500 tonnes of steel already received on site and being erected. The

development of project infrastructure continues: the major tenders for the Zambia Electricity Supply Corporation Limited 330kV

transmission line and substation works have been released; the first senior houses are complete and ready for occupation; the

visitor guesthouse is complete; and a further 20 houses are on schedule for completion in Q1 2013. 

The Company will continue project development with an on-going commitment to social responsibility within the complete

license area.

Project capital costs were estimated at approximately $1.72 billion with project completion unchanged and expected during 2014.

However a throughput increase from 40 Mtpa to 55 Mtpa, plus the addition of a nickel processing plant (Enterprise development)

has been added to the project development which increased the total capital cost estimate to $2.0 billion. 

enterprise project, Zambia

The maiden mineral resource estimate for the Enterprise nickel deposit has been identified at 40.1 Mt at 1.07% nickel. This supports

proved and probable mineral reserves of 32.7 Mt at 1.10% nickel and based on a 4 Mtpa operation, the mine life would be

approximately eight years producing 38,000 to 40,000 tonnes of nickel per annum. There is further potential to increase both the

mineral resource and reserve as drilling continues in the adjacent Enterprise South West Zone. The Enterprise deposit is located

approximately 12 kilometres northwest of the Sentinel development.

The longest lead equipment items, being the SAG mill and the ball mill, have been ordered and engineering design has commenced.

exploration

Exploration programs continued with ongoing drilling campaigns active at Trident and Kansanshi. A maiden resource and reserve

estimate was released for the Enterprise nickel project and a significant resource and reserve upgrade was announced for Kansanshi.

Trident Exploration

At Trident up to 10 drill rigs were active mostly on regional targets, but also included some infill drilling on Sentinel and additional

resource drilling around Enterprise. In total, approximately 110,000 metres of drilling was completed at Trident in 2012.

Enterprise nickel project (Main and SW) Grade-Tonnage Estimate as at November 28, 2012 

Ore tonnes Grade Contained nickel
(million tonnes) (Nickel %) (‘000 tonnes)

Measured resource 2.7 1.51 41

Indicated resource 37.4 1.04 390

Total measured and indicated 40.1 1.07 431

Inferred resource 7.1 0.70 50

Note: The Mineral Resource is reported at a 0.15% nickel cut off and was estimated as a block model within constraining mineralized wireframe. Differences may occur due

to rounding.

Several regional targets were drill-tested during the Q4 2012. The target at Bream, 20 kilometres north east of Enterprise, continues

to return encouraging low grade disseminated chalcopyrite intercepts in reconnaissance drilling over several hundred metres of

strike within highly altered sequence.

Kansanshi

At Kansanshi, 14 core rigs continued operating on the project divided between incremental resource and reserve additions

immediately around the existing pits and the district exploration program. These programs are designed to provide enhanced

definition of longer term oxide and sulphide resource potential as well as to test the ultimate extents of the mineral system.
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More than 120,000 metres of resource development drilling has now been completed at Kansanshi. Modelling and resource

estimation of the Kansanshi and South East Dome resources were finalized during the period and released as part of the Kansanshi

resource and reserve upgrade statement in December.

The mineral resource estimate for the combined Main and North West regions includes a total of 690.0 Mt at 0.86% total copper

(“TCu”) defined by a cut-off grade of 0.3% TCu in the measured and indicated classification plus an additional 344.5 Mt at 0.7% TCu

in the inferred classification. The mineral resource for the South East Dome includes 54.0 Mt at 0.9% TCu defined at a cut-off grade

of 0.3% TCu in the indicated classification plus an additional 20.8 Mt at 0.91% TCu in the inferred classification. 

Initial comparative estimates show that the mineral resource tonnage has increased by approximately 121% and total contained

copper metal by 74%. The inferred mineral resources has increased by greater amounts and these largely adjacent regions will now

be the focus of the targeted in-fill drilling program for 2013.

Exploration drilling during the quarter continued to the northern side of South East Dome where additional intercepts suggest that

the resource and potential pit may be extended into the Rocky Hill area.

Regional transect drilling has included several deep holes (700 – 1,000 metres) along the core of the Kansanshi Antiform, some of

which have intercepted notable mineralization to depths of over 800 metres below surface. The context and extent of this

mineralization is not yet fully understood however it further enhances the scale of the Kansanshi system.

Finland

Deep drilling targeting geophysical targets immediately to the south west of Kevitsa has demonstrated a much larger body of the

Dunite/pyroxenite intrusion (host to the Kevitsa mineralization) than was previously known. Scattered chalcopyrite/pentlandite at

depth in this hole suggests potential for Kevitsa style mineralization well beyond the area previously tested by drilling.

Reconnaissance drilling and ground geophysics is in progress or planned during the northern winter season on a number of Mafic

nickel-copper, sediment hosted copper and IOCG copper-gold targets through Finland. 

Peru

Detailed soil sampling over targets identified in the 2012 helicopter magnetic survey has confirmed porphyry style geochemistry

over six main target areas within the Haquira tenure. The multi-element sampling has demonstrated a very extensive footprint halo

around known mineralization that should prove useful for defining new porphyry mineralization in Southern Peru. 

Exploration drilling at Haquira is likely to be postponed during 2013 while the Company concentrates on the community and

environmental aspects of the project development.

In May 2012, the Company acquired a 19.99% ownership stake in Zincore Metals Inc (“Zincore”). Since then, Zincore has released

results for three of the seven holes drilled to date on their early stage Dolores copper porphyry prospect, in which the Company has

an option to earn 80%. The current holes are widely spaced and have encountered extensive intercepts of low-grade mineralization

in holes nearly 3 kilometres apart (for more details see Zincore press releases – TSX-V: ZNC).

Turkey

The Company has entered into a placement and option joint-venture agreement with Empire Mining Corporation (now Columbus

Copper Corporation (TSX-V: CCU)) which hold rights to a porphyry/skarn copper project at Bursa in Western Turkey. Drilling and a

high–resolution airborne magnetic survey commenced on the project during Q4 2012.

Mauritania & West Africa

The diamond drill program on the Oriental Hill mineralization adjacent to the current Guelb Moghrein open pit continued during

Q4 2012. As part of the program five metallurgical holes have been completed for detailed metallurgical testing. Consistent

thicknesses of oxide and typical Guelb Moghrein style ‘FMC’ mineralization have been intercepted and are somewhat wider than

anticipated in the south. 

Drilling on the Bou Seroual gold target east of Guelb Moghrein has intercepted quartz-ankarite-sulphide veins in an extensively

altered shear zone. Assay results for gold are pending.
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The first of three exploration permits in western Côte d’Ivoire has been granted to the Company’s alliance partner Newgenco. These

permits cover prospective nickel-copper-PGE targets in the Man region. Reconnaissance geochemistry and geophysics are now able

to commence.

sales ReVenues

(In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted) Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Kansanshi – copper 437.9 462.3 368.4 1,797.3 1,909.3

– gold 56.4 44.8 37.3 182.6 139.0

Guelb Moghrein – copper 92.5 64.1 66.2 286.7 244.4

– gold 34.8 21.5 31.0 107.7 101.8

Ravensthorpe – nickel 93.0 79.6 – 380.8 –

– cobalt 1.3 1.7 – 6.9 –

Kevitsa – nickel 6.9 8.8 – 15.7 –

– copper 20.6 18.7 – 39.3 –

– gold, PGE and cobalt 9.0 8.1 – 17.1 –

Corporate and other 22.2 15.2 64.4 116.3 189.0

774.6 724.8 567.3 2,950.4 2,583.5

Full year 2012 sales revenues were 14% higher than 2011. Revenue in 2012 has benefited from a full year of commercial production

at Ravensthorpe, contributing $387.7 million and the first full quarter of production at Kevitsa, contributing $72.1 million. Excluding

the two new operations, sales revenues decreased by 4% year-on-year due to the lower net realized copper price which fell by 9%.

Gold revenues increased to $296.4 million in 2012 due to higher sales volumes and higher realized prices. 

Q4 2012 total sales revenues were 37% higher than the prior year quarter due to the contribution of Ravensthorpe and Kevitsa of

$94.3 million and $36.5 million respectively. Excluding the two new operations, sales revenues increased by 13% from Q4 2011 from

a combination of higher realized copper and gold prices and higher sales volumes of both metals. This was offset by a decrease in

revenue from the Corporate segment which in 2011 benefited from a one-off sale of excess sulphur.

The Company’s revenues are recognized at provisional prices when title passes to the customer. Subsequent adjustments for

final pricing are materially offset by derivative adjustments and shown on a net basis in cost of sales (see “Hedging Program” for

further discussion).

Copper selling price (per lb)

Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Average LME cash price 3.59 3.50 3.40 3.61 4.00

Realized copper price 3.46 3.45 3.33 3.51 3.87

Treatment/refining charges (“TC/RC”) and freight charges (0.23) (0.26) (0.32) (0.25) (0.27)

Net realized copper price 3.23 3.19 3.01 3.26 3.60

The LME copper price averaged $3.59 per lb for the quarter, an increase of $0.19 per lb from the average for Q4 2011. Copper prices

traded lower from the end of September (closing $3.75 per lb) to a quarter low of $3.42 per lb on November 9, 2012 when the Dow

Jones Industrial Average registered its biggest one day loss in 2012. 

Nickel selling price (per lb)

Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Average LME cash price 7.70 7.41 8.30 7.95 10.35

Realized nickel price per payable pound 7.74 7.69 – 7.96 –

TC/RC charges (0.35) (0.44) – (0.25) –

Net realized nickel price per payable pound 7.39 7.25 – 7.71 –
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The LME nickel price averaged $7.70 per lb for the quarter, a decrease of $0.60 per lb from the average for Q4 2011. The rally in nickel

prices that began in the final week of August and continued through September reached its peak of $8.54 per lb on October 2, 2012

and then started to fall back reaching a quarter low of $7.19 per lb on November 5, 2012. The last week of November saw a rebound

to around $7.94 per lb in early December, and then to a month high of $8.05 per lb at the close on December 12, 2012.

suMMaRy Financial Results

(In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted) Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Gross profit

Kansanshi 238.0 223.8 186.2 929.4 1,187.1

Guelb Moghrein 47.5 24.3 3.5 117.7 127.8

Ravensthorpe 2.8 (1.6) – 42.5 –

Kevitsa 6.4 17.5 – 23.9 –

Other 0.3 (3.0) (7.0) (12.5) (6.9)

Total gross profit 295.0 261.0 182.7 1,101.0 1,308.0

Exploration (13.4) (6.3) (19.7) (49.7) (73.0)

General and administrative (20.4) (22.5) (15.8) (76.0) (73.8)

Other income (expense) (5.0) (1.0) (3.8) (4.3) 7.3

Net finance income (costs) 1.0 1.2 (0.1) 8.3 (4.6)

Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets – – – 1,217.9 –

Bond inducement costs – – – – (48.4)

Income taxes (50.5) (99.7) (49.5) (327.8) (460.7)

Net earnings for the period 206.7 132.7 93.8 1,869.4 654.8

Net earnings for the period attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 20.0 25.4 17.8 96.5 125.9

Shareholders of the Company 186.7 107.3 76.0 1,772.9 528.9

Comparative earnings 186.7 107.3 78.9 555.0 580.5

Earnings per share

Basic $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.16 $ 3.74 $ 1.18

Diluted $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.16 $ 3.72 $ 1.18

Comparative earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.17 $ 1.17 $ 1.30

Full year exploration costs decreased from 2011. The prior year includes exploration expenses at Enterprise, which were capitalized

in 2012 following a development decision by the Board. Full year exploration expenses comprise primarily; 

– $13.7 million in Peru

– $8.4 million at Kansanshi

– $9.6 million in Finland and Sweden

– $8.7 million at Guelb Moghrein 

General and administrative costs were consistent with costs in 2011. A reduction in legal expenses related to RDC matters were

partially offset by an increase in personnel costs in 2012 driven by an increased complement of employees to develop and manage

the Company’s expanded asset base. 
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On January 5, 2012, the Company reached an agreement with ENRC to dispose of its residual claims and assets in respect of the

Kolwezi Tailings project and the Frontier and Lonshi mines and related exploration interests, all located in the Katanga Province of

the RDC and to settle all current legal matters relating to these interests for a total consideration of $1.25 billion. The transaction

was completed on March 2, 2012. The total consideration was comprised of $750.0 million, paid on March 2, 2012, together with a

deferred consideration of $500.0 million in the form of a three-year Promissory Note with an interest coupon of 3% payable

annually in arrears. Under the terms of the acquisition, ENRC acquired, with certain limited exceptions, all of First Quantum’s assets

and property either physically located within the RDC or relating to the operations formerly carried out by First Quantum and its

subsidiaries in the RDC. In connection with the transaction, First Quantum, ENRC, the RDC Government, International Finance

Corporation and Industrial Development Corporation have also settled all disputes relating to the companies being sold and their

assets and operations in the RDC and each of First Quantum, ENRC, the RDC Government, International Finance Corporation and

Industrial Development Corporation have released one another in respect of all claims and judgments relating to the foregoing or

to any other matter arising in the RDC on or before the date of closing.

The $1,217.9 million gain recognized on the disposal includes the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs and the

underlying net liabilities of subsidiaries disposed of. 

Income taxes for the full year amount to an effective income tax rate of approximately 33% of earnings (excluding the $1,217.9

received in settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets) compared to 40% (based on comparative earnings) in the prior year. The

decrease is due to a number of non-recurring factors that include the recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses. In future, it

is expected that the effective tax rate will reduce slightly below 43% as a result of increased earnings in lower tax jurisdictions.

liQuiDity anD caPital ResouRces

(In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted) Q4 2012 Q4 20111 2012 20111 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

– before changes in working capital 319.1 285.5 1,165.2 1,299.3 1,340.4

– after changes in working capital 70.2 (5.2) 342.5 412.3 802.9

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (420.0) (294.4) (1,373.3) (1,108.7) (357.6)

Proceeds from settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets – – 736.5 – –

Acquisitions – – – – (514.9)

Other investing activities (27.3) – (41.0) 14.0 646.9

Cash flows from financing activities 311.2 (2.8) 192.2 (210.4) (151.6)

Net cash flows (65.9) (302.4) (143.1) (892.8) (425.7)

Cash balance 309.0 452.1 309.0 452.1 1,344.9

Total assets 7,536.4 5,298.0 7,536.4 5,298.0 4,957.9

Total long-term liabilities 1,211.4 507.6 1,211.4 507.6 853.1

Cash flows from operating activities per share2

– before working capital (per share) $ 0.67 $ 0.60 $ 2.46 $ 2.91 $ 3.34

– after working capital (per share) $ 0.15 $ (0.01) $ 0.72 $ 0.92 $ 0.92

1 Cash flows before changes in working capital has been adjusted from that previously disclosed due to changes in presentation of taxes paid and interest received in the cash flow.
2 Cash flows per share is not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.

2012 operating cash flows before changes in working capital decreased from 2011 due to higher non-cash expenses in 2011.

Changes in working capital during 2012 resulted in a reduction of cash of $822.7 million which includes $458.8 million in Zambian

taxes that the Company paid during the year. Increases in accounts receivable and inventory totalled $444.3 million during 2012,

resulting in part, from the commencement of operations at Kevitsa. 
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Capital expenditure on the Company’s key development projects totalled $1,373.3 million for the year. Capital expenditure

comprised primarily; 

– $755.2 million at Kansanshi for the oxide circuit expansions, smelter project and mine pit development costs

– $328.2 million at Sentinel, including deposits, for site development and long-lead plant and mine equipment

– $171.4 million at Kevitsa for project development, completion and costs incurred during the commissioning phase

Proceeds from settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets represents the net cash proceeds received during Q1 2012.

The $500.0 million promissory note is payable by ENRC on March 2, 2015.

Cash flows from financing activities for the year include dividend payments made to shareholders of the Company of $91.0 million

as well as dividends paid to non-controlling interest of $39.0 million. Cash flows from financing activities in 2011 include dividend

payments of $79.3 million and $10.8 million made to shareholders of the Company and non-controlling interest respectively. Prior

year cash flows from financing activities also include bond inducement costs of $48.4 million and the final $80.7 million repayment

of the $400.0 million term loan facility which was previously in place.

Cash flows from financing activities in Q4 2012 comprise primarily of the net proceeds from the $350.0 million senior notes issue

which was completed on October 10, 2012. Q4 2012 also includes dividends of $23.2 million paid to non-controlling interests. 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had the following contractual obligations outstanding: 

Carrying Contractual
Value Cash flows < 1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years Thereafter

Debt 396.8 584.9 73.3 60.0 50.8 400.8

Trade and other payables 355.5 355.5 355.5 – – –

Current taxes payable 32.5 32.5 32.5 – – –

Deferred payments 4.2 4.2 4.2 – – –

Finance leases 27.2 38.9 3.8 7.6 7.6 19.9

Commitments 897.2 897.2 897.2 – – –

Restoration provisions 270.5 519.0 0.6 5.6 1.0 511.8

Total 1,983.9 2,432.2 1,367.1 73.2 59.4 932.5

Total commitments of $897.2 million comprise primarily of capital expenditure for property, plant and equipment related to the

development of Sentinel, upgrades at Kansanshi, the smelter construction and other projects. 

The significant capital expansion and development program is expected to be funded using available cash, future cash flows from

operations and debt facilities. At December 31, 2012, both the $250.0 million Kevitsa debt facility and $1.0 billion Kansanshi senior

term and revolving facility were undrawn and available for drawdown. 

Hedging program 

As at December 31, 2012, the following derivative positions were outstanding:

Average price Open Positions Maturities
(tonnes/ounces) Contract Market Through

Embedded derivatives in provisional sales contracts:

Copper 50,191 $ 3.61/lb $ 3.59/lb March 2013

Nickel 3,996 7.81/lb 7.70/lb February 2013

Gold 19,462 1,705/oz 1,676/oz March 2013

Commodity contracts:

Copper 53,453 $ 3.61/lb $3.59/lb March 2013

Nickel 3,315 7.81/lb 7.70/lb February 2013

Gold 21,253 1,705/oz 1,676/oz March 2013
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A summary of the fair values of unsettled derivative financial instruments for commodity contracts recorded on the consolidated

balance sheet:

December 31, December 31, 
2012 2011

Commodity contracts:

Asset position $ 5.0 $ 5.1

Liability position (2.4) (6.0)

a) Provisional pricing and derivative contracts

A portion of the Company’s metal sales is sold on a provisional pricing basis whereby sales are recognized at prevailing metal prices

when title transfers to the customer and final pricing is not determined until a subsequent date, typically two months later. The

difference between final price and provisional invoice price is recognized in net earnings. In order to mitigate the impact of these

adjustments on net earnings, the Company enters into derivative contracts to directly offset the pricing exposure on the

provisionally priced contracts. The provisional pricing gains or losses and offsetting derivative gains or losses are both recognized as

a component of cost of sales. Derivative assets are presented in other assets and derivative liabilities are presented in other

liabilities with the exception of copper, gold and nickel embedded derivatives which are included within accounts receivable. 

As at December 31, 2012, substantially all of the Company’s metal sales contracts subject to pricing adjustments were hedged by

offsetting derivative contracts.

eQuity

At the date of this report, the Company has 476,310,282 shares outstanding. There were no changes in common shares outstanding

during 2012.

otHeR iteMs

Zambian taxation 

The Government of the Republic of Zambia (“GRZ”) announced in January 2008 a number of proposed changes to the tax regime

in the country in relation to mining companies. The Company, through some of its Zambian subsidiaries, is party to Development

Agreements with the GRZ for its existing operations which provide an express right to full and fair compensation for any loss,

damages or costs (including interest) incurred by the Company by reason of the government’s failure to comply with the tax

stability guarantees set out in the Development Agreements and rights of international arbitration in the event of any dispute.

The Company’s Zambian subsidiaries have complied with the GRZ’s new tax regime without prejudice to its rights under the

Development Agreement.

Following the change of government in 2011, the first Budget of the new government introduced a further increase in the copper

mineral royalty tax from 3% to 6%, effective April 2012, in breach of the Development Agreements. 

In the 2013 Budget, delivered in October 2012, the GRZ has decreased the rate of Capital Allowances from 100% per annum to 25%

per annum. This will impact the timing of the tax benefit from the Company’s significant capital programs at Kansanshi and Sentinel.

Until resolved differently with the GRZ, the Company is recognizing and paying taxes in excess of the Development Agreement,

resulting in an effective tax rate of approximately 43% at Kansanshi.
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suMMaRy oF Results

The following unaudited tables set out a summary of quarterly and annual results for the Company:

(In United States dollars, tabular amounts 
in millions, except where noted) 2010 Q1 11 Q2 11 Q3 11 Q4 11 2011 Q1 12 Q2 12 Q3 12 Q4 12 2012

Consolidated operating statistics
Sales revenues

Copper $2,196.0 $651.6 $606.9 $585.0 $474.4 $2,317.9 $573.3 $528.1 $559.1 $571.7 $2,232.2

Nickel – – – – – – 80.1 128.1 88.3 100.0 396.5

Gold 197.2 53.6 53.1 66.0 68.2 240.9 68.5 64.3 68.8 94.8 296.4

PGE and other elements – – – – 24.7 24.7 6.8 1.8 8.6 8.1 25.3

Total sales revenues 2,393.2 705.2 660.0 651.0 567.3 2,583.5 728.7 722.3 724.8 774.6 2,950.4

Gross profit 1,211.7 439.5 363.2 322.6 182.7 1,308.0 270.3 274.7 261.0 295.0 1,101.0

EBITDA 1,120.2 425.6 346.7 279.2 180.6 1,232.1 1,498.9 276.4 276.2 309.7 2,361.2

Net earnings attributable to 

shareholders of the Company 305.8 206.7 155.3 90.9 76.0 528.9 1,336.9 142.0 107.3 186.7 1,772.9

Comparative earnings 549.7 206.7 155.3 139.6 78.9 580.5 119.0 142.0 107.3 186.7 555.0

Basic earnings per share $0.76 $0.48 $0.36 $0.20 $0.16 $1.18 $2.82 $0.30 $ 0.23 $ 0.39 $3.74

Comparative earnings per share $1.37 $0.48 $0.36 $0.30 $0.17 $1.30 $0.25 $0.30 $ 0.23 $ 0.39 $1.17

Diluted earnings per share $0.69 $0.44 $0.33 $0.20 $0.16 $1.18 $2.81 $0.30 $ 0.23 $ 0.39 $3.72

Dividends declared per common 

share ($CDN per share) $0.142 $0.121 – $0.053 – $0.174 $0.1277 – $0.0603 – $0.1880

Weighted average # shares (000’s) 401,322 428,770 428,775 456,865 474,071 447,224 474,069 474,035 473,776 473,718 473,893

Cash flows from operating activities

Before working capital movements $3.34 $0.84 $0.62 $0.85 $0.60 $2.91 $0.41 $0.78 $0.60 $0.67 $2.46

After working capital movements $0.92 $0.88 ($0.13) $0.21 ($0.01) $0.92 $0.29 $0.49 ($0.21) $0.15 $0.72

Copper statistics

Total copper production (tonnes) 323,017 74,888 64,587 58,785 67,316 265,576 65,869 72,184 84,144 84,918 307,115

Total copper sales (tonnes) 311,560 70,665 65,511 71,443 65,638 273,257 67,789 72,711 77,396 77,570 295,466

Realized copper price (per lb) 3.25 4.23 4.05 3.84 3.33 3.87 3.67 3.48 3.45 3.46 3.51

TC/RC (per lb) (0.06) (0.03) (0.04) (0.06) (0.06) (0.05) (0.07) (0.08) (0.09) (0.08) (0.08)

Freight charges (per lb) (0.21) (0.19) (0.20) (0.24) (0.26) (0.22) (0.18) (0.19) (0.18) (0.15) (0.17)

Net realized copper price (per lb) 2.98 4.01 3.81 3.54 3.01 3.60 3.42 3.21 3.19 3.23 3.26

Cash costs – copper (C1) (per lb)1 $1.18 $1.15 $1.43 $1.52 $1.53 $1.41 $1.59 $1.53 $1.44 $1.42 $1.49

Total costs – copper (C3) (per lb)1 $1.47 $1.48 $1.78 $1.85 $1.97 $1.76 $1.89 $1.96 $1.86 $1.91 $1.91

Nickel statistics

Nickel production (contained tonnes) – – – – 5,666 5,666 8,573 8,174 9,916 10,096 36,759

Nickel sales (contained tonnes) – – – – 1,388 1,388 5,332 9,846 7,120 8,081 30,379

Nickel production (payable tonnes) – – – – 4,189 4,189 6,617 6,204 6,932 8,039 27,792

Nickel sales (payable tonnes) – – – – 1,110 1,110 4,199 7,443 5,554 6,124 23,320

Realized nickel price (per payable lb) – – – – – – 8.85 7.84 7.69 7.74 7.96

TC/RC (per payable lb) – – – – – – (0.20) (0.05) (0.44) (0.35) (0.25)

Net realized nickel price (per payable lb) – – – – – – 8.65 7.79 7.25 7.39 7.71

Cash costs – nickel (C1) (per payable lb)1 – – – – – – $5.69 $5.70 $6.24 $6.12 $5.92

Total costs – nickel (C3) (per payable lb)1 – – – – – – $6.93 $6.95 $7.64 $7.30 $7.19

Gold statistics

Total gold production (ounces) 191,395 49,146 41,087 41,468 43,524 175,225 42,495 44,280 50,784 64,383 201,942

Total gold sales (ounces) 188,368 45,349 38,426 47,458 49,209 180,442 45,619 46,445 48,889 61,350 202,303

Net realized gold price (per ounce) 1,047 1,183 1,382 1,386 1,386 1,335 1,502 1,384 1,408 1,546 1,465

Platinum statistics

Platinum production (ounces) – – – – – – – 585 7,100 6,123 13,808

Platinum sales (ounces) – – – – – – – – 4,066 3,709 7,775

Palladium statistics

Palladium production (ounces) – – – – – – – 564 6,200 5,419 12,183

Palladium sales (ounces) – – – – – – – – 3,681 3,500 7,181

1 Cash costs, total costs and EBITDA are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.
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2010 Q1 11 Q2 11 Q3 11 Q4 11 2011 Q1 12 Q2 12 Q3 12 Q4 12 2012

Kansanshi statistics
Mining

Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 23,847 6,700 13,087 16,133 15,848 51,768 16,062 18,217 24,494 22,365 81,138

Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 23,045 6,152 6,025 5,761 6,568 24,506 5,882 6,150 8,463 9,952 30,447

Processing

Sulphide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 10,382 2,318 2,724 2,185 1,628 8,855 1,433 2,379 2,763 2,679 9,254

Sulphide ore grade processed (%) 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.4 0.6 0.7 1.0 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.0

Sulphide ore recovery (%) 93 94 93 88 92 91 95 94 92 92 93

Mixed ore processed (000’s tonnes) 5,462 1,638 1,696 2,057 2,986 8,377 2,562 2,093 1,955 1,951 8,561

Mixed ore grade processed (%) 1.3 1.2 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.1 1.1

Mixed ore recovery (%) 67 68 62 61 64 63 64 64 77 74 69

Oxide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 5,674 1,517 1,469 1,594 1,492 6,072 1,424 1,548 1,500 1,738 6,210

Oxide ore grade processed (%) 2.2 2.4 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.0 2.0 2.6 2.0 2.2

Oxide ore recovery (%) 86 84 86 84 88 86 85 84 84 90 86

Copper cathode produced (tonnes) 86,682 25,445 21,037 25,173 24,838 96,493 21,274 22,938 27,194 25,341 96,747

Copper cathode tolled produced 

(tonnes) 97,501 26,655 23,478 22,782 18,515 91,430 21,085 18,757 16,701 15,912 72,455

Copper in concentrate produced 

(tonnes) 46,941 12,697 11,641 2,224 15,810 42,372 14,252 21,130 27,589 29,178 92,149

Total copper production 231,124 64,797 56,156 50,179 59,163 230,295 56,611 62,825 71,484 70,431 261,351

Concentrate grade (%) 24.9 23.0 22.1 19.1 24.4 22.3 28.2 26.3 23.9 23.5 25.0

Gold produced (ounces) 109,629 30,612 25,417 26,677 29,580 112,286 27,158 28,244 35,245 45,410 136,056

Cash Costs (per lb) 1

Mining $0.44 $0.42 $0.55 $0.52 $0.63 $0.53 $0.58 $0.55 $0.50 $0.52 $0.54

Processing 0.58 0.62 0.76 0.97 0.81 0.79 0.90 0.82 0.83 0.91 0.86

Site administration 0.03 0.04 0.06 0.09 0.06 0.06 0.05 0.07 0.05 0.06 0.06

TC/RC and freight charges 0.28 0.30 0.30 0.31 0.32 0.31 0.37 0.35 0.37 0.33 0.35

Gold credit (0.23) (0.24) (0.26) (0.33) (0.30) (0.28) (0.36) (0.27) (0.29) (0.37) (0.32)

Cash costs (C1) (per lb)1 $1.10 $1.14 $1.41 $1.56 $1.52 $1.41 $1.54 $1.52 $1.46 $1.45 $1.49

Total costs (C3) (per lb)1 $1.31 $1.39 $1.68 $1.87 $1.90 $1.70 $1.82 $1.93 $1.86 $1.90 $1.88

Revenues ($ millions)

Copper cathodes $1,240.0 $494.0 $444.2 $424.1 $302.6 $1,664.9 $355.0 $338.9 $334.5 $334.6 $1,363.0

Copper in concentrates 298.4 69.2 47.6 61.8 65.8 244.4 90.7 112.5 127.8 103.3 434.3

Gold 115.5 34.1 31.9 35.7 37.3 139.0 44.8 36.6 44.8 56.4 182.6

Total sales revenues $1,653.9 $597.3 $523.7 $521.6 $405.7 $2,048.3 $490.5 $488.0 $507.1 $494.3 $1,979.9

Copper cathode sales (tonnes) 80,782 29,412 26,370 29,350 24,522 109,654 24,128 23,238 27,138 27,946 102,450

Copper tolled cathode sales (tonnes) 97,295 26,655 23,478 22,782 18,514 91,429 21,085 18,758 16,700 15,912 72,455

Copper in concentrate sales (tonnes) 47,112 7,006 7,773 8,970 11,000 34,749 13,332 21,755 21,992 17,900 74,979

Gold sales (ounces) 115,742 31,210 25,944 29,592 27,742 114,488 30,308 29,162 33,510 38,179 131,159

1 Cash costs and total costs are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.
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2010 Q1 11 Q2 11 Q3 11 Q4 11 2011 Q1 12 Q2 12 Q3 12 Q4 12 2012

Guelb Moghrein statistics
Mining

Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 9,827 2,267 3,114 3,696 4,162 13,239 4,532 4,673 4,720 5,652 19,577

Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 3,045 931 661 878 1,140 3,610 994 1,046 807 723 3,570

Processing

Sulphide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 2,796 758 631 668 634 2,691 797 753 687 825 3,062

Sulphide ore grade processed (%) 1.5 1.4 1.5 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.4 1.3

Recovery (%) 91 92 91 91 91 91 92 88 94 93 91

Copper in concentrate produced 

(tonnes) 36,969 10,091 8,429 8,606 8,155 35,281 9,258 8,718 8,656 11,038 37,670

Gold produced (ounces) 81,766 18,534 15,670 14,791 13,943 62,938 15,337 15,554 12,827 16,802 60,519

Cash Costs (per lb) 1

Mining $0.35 $0.40 $0.46 $0.78 $0.69 $0.57 $0.65 $0.67 $0.55 $0.73 $0.66

Processing 0.77 0.82 1.20 1.28 1.45 1.17 1.23 1.31 1.13 1.01 1.16

Site administration 0.25 0.25 0.38 0.23 0.39 0.31 0.33 0.31 0.34 0.31 0.32

TC/RC and freight charges 0.48 0.47 0.62 0.49 0.69 0.57 0.76 0.58 0.57 0.44 0.58

Gold credit (0.95) (0.68) (1.04) (1.45) (1.59) (1.16) (1.13) (1.26) (1.17) (1.36) (1.24)

Cash costs (C1) (per lb) 1 $0.90 $1.26 $1.62 $1.33 $1.63 $1.46 $1.84 $1.61 $1.43 $1.13 $1.48

Total costs (C3) (per lb) 1 $1.65 $2.03 $2.49 $1.89 $2.45 $2.20 $2.41 $2.20 $1.93 $1.69 $2.04

Revenues ($ millions)

Copper in concentrates $192.7 $49.1 $56.8 $72.3 $66.2 $244.4 $66.6 $63.5 $64.1 $92.5 $286.7

Gold 81.7 19.5 21.2 30.1 31.0 101.8 23.7 27.7 21.5 34.8 107.7

Total sales revenues $274.4 $68.6 $78.0 $102.4 $97.2 $346.2 $90.3 $91.2 $85.6 $127.3 $394.4

Copper in concentrate sales (tonnes) 32,932 6,031 7,810 10,332 11,601 35,774 9,244 8,961 8,962 13,007 40,174

Gold sales (ounces) 72,626 14,139 12,482 17,866 21,467 65,954 15,311 17,283 13,631 20,864 67,089

2010 Q1 11 Q2 11 Q3 11 Q4 11 2011 Q1 12 Q2 12 Q3 12 Q4 12 2012

Ravensthorpe statistics
Processing

Beneficiated ore processed (000’s tonnes) – – – – 645 645 724 667 733 687 2,811

Beneficiated ore grade processed (%) – – – – 1.3 1.3 1.5 1.6 1.4 1.5 1.5

Recovery (%) – – – – 68 68 78 77 77 78 77

Nickel produced (contained tonnes) – – – – 5,666 5,666 8,573 8,053 8,032 8,227 32,884

Nickel produced (payable tonnes) – – – – 4,189 4,189 6,617 6,204 6,188 6,338 25,347

Cash Costs (per lb) 1

Mining – – – – – – $0.57 $0.69 $0.93 $1.00 $0.80

Processing – – – – – – 3.73 4.10 4.45 4.16 4.14

Site administration – – – – – – 0.61 0.50 0.51 0.41 0.51

TC/RC and freight charges – – – – – – 1.03 0.45 0.65 0.57 0.64

Cobalt credit – – – – – – (0.25) (0.04) (0.11) (0.09) (0.12)

Cash costs (C1) (per lb) 1 – – – – – – $5.69 $5.70 $6.43 $6.05 $5.97

Total costs (C3) (per lb) 1 – – – – – – $6.93 $6.95 $7.84 $7.33 $7.25

Revenues ($ millions)

Nickel – – – – – – $80.1 $128.1 $79.6 $93.0 $380.8

Cobalt – – – – – – 2.1 1.8 1.7 1.3 6.9

Total sales revenues – – – – – – $82.2 $129.9 $81.3 $94.3 $387.7

Nickel sales (contained tonnes) – – – – 1,388 1,388 5,332 9,846 6,272 7,288 28,738

Nickel sales (payable tonnes) – – – – 1,110 1,110 4,199 7,443 4,790 5,425 21,857

1 Cash costs and total costs are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.



43First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 2012 Annual Report  Our UNIQUE Investment Dynamics  DRIVING Shareholder VALUE

Q2 12 Q3 12 Q3 12 Q4 12 2012

Pre-commercial Post-commercial
production production

Kevitsa statistics
Mining

Total tonnes mined (000’s tonnes) 500 558 1,164 5,238 7,460

Processing

Ore tonnes milled (000’s tonnes) 318 720 687 1,413 3,138

Nickel ore grade processed (%) 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2

Nickel recovery (%) 24 54 60 59 56

Nickel production (tonnes) 121 843 1,041 1,870 3,875

Copper ore grade processed (%) 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Copper recovery (%) 64 87 84 84 83

Copper production (tonnes) 642 2,130 1,874 3,448 8,094

Gold production (ounces) 482 1,282 1,431 2,172 5,367

Platinum production (ounces) 585 3,174 3,926 6,123 13,808

Palladium production (ounces) 564 2,827 3,373 5,419 12,183

Cash costs – Nickel (C1) (per lb) 1, 2 – – 3.79 6.37 5.47

Total costs – Nickel (C3) (per lb) 1, 2 – – 5.35 7.19 6.54

Cash costs – Copper (C1) (per lb) 1, 2 – – 0.11 1.75 1.28

Total costs – Copper (C3) (per lb) 1, 2 – – 1.49 3.06 2.61

Revenues ($ millions)

Nickel – – $8.8 $6.9 $15.7

Copper – – 18.7 20.6 39.3

Gold – – 2.5 3.7 6.2

PGE and other – – 5.6 5.3 10.9

Total sales revenues – – $35.6 $36.5 $72.1

Nickel sales (tonnes) – – 848 792 1,640

Copper sales (tonnes) – 1,040 2,604 2,805 6,448

Gold sales (ounces) – 702 1,749 2,306 4,757

Platinum sales (ounces) – 775 3,291 3,709 7,775

Palladium sales (ounces) – 697 2,984 3,500 7,18

1 Cash costs and total costs are not recognized under IFRS. See “Regulatory Disclosures” for further information.
2 Cash costs and total costs are calculated on a co-product basis for nickel and copper. Common costs are allocated to each product based on the ratio of production volumes multiplied by budget metal prices. By-product credits
are allocated based on the finished product concentrate in which they are produced. 

RegulatoRy DisclosuRes

seasonality

The Company’s results as discussed in this MD&A are subject to seasonal aspects, in particular the rain season in Zambia. The rain

season in Zambia generally starts in November and continues through April, with the heaviest rainfall normally experienced in the

months of January, February and March. As a result of the rain season, pit access and the ability to mine ore is lower in the first

quarter of the year than other quarters and the cost of mining is higher.  

Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of the date of this report.

Non-GAAP financial measures

This document refers to cash costs (C1) and total costs (C3) per unit of payable production, operating cash flow per share, EBITDA and

comparative earnings, which are not measures recognized under IFRS and do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS.

The calculation of these measures is described below, and may differ from those used by other issuers. The Company discloses

these measures in order to provide assistance in understanding the results of our operations and to provide additional

information to investors.

Calculation of cash costs and total Costs

The consolidated cash costs (C1) and total costs (C3) presented by the Company are measures that are prepared on a basis

consistent with the industry standard definitions but are not measures recognized under IFRS. In calculating the cash and total 
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costs for each segment, the costs are prepared on the same basis as the segmented financial information that is contained in the

financial statements. 

Cash costs include all mining and processing costs less any profits from by-products such as gold, cobalt or platinum group elements.

TC/RC and freight deductions on metal sales, which are typically recognized as a component of sales revenues, are added to cash costs

to arrive at an approximate cost of finished metal. Total costs are cash costs plus depreciation, exploration, interest and royalties.

Calculation of operating cash flow per share, EBITDA and comparative earnings

In calculating the operating cash flow per share, before and after working capital movements, the operating cash flow calculated for

IFRS purposes is divided by the basic weighted average common shares outstanding for the respective period. EBITDA is calculated

as operating profit before depreciation. Comparative earnings and comparative earnings per share have been adjusted to remove

the effect of the settlement of claims and sale of RDC assets in 2012 and bond inducement costs in 2011. These may differ from

those used by other issuers. 

(In United States dollars, tabular amounts in millions, except where noted) Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Net earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company 186.7 107.3 76.0 1,772.9 528.9

Add:

Bond inducement costs – – – – 48.4

Net loss from Frontier before asset impairments – – 2.6 – 3.1

Net loss from Bwana/Lonshi before asset impairments – – 0.3 – 0.1

Deduct:

Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets – – – (1,217.9) –

Comparative earnings 186.7 107.3 78.9 555.0 580.5

Earnings per share as reported $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.16 $ 3.74 $ 1.18

Comparative earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.23 $ 0.17 $ 1.17 $ 1.30

a) Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting policies

Many of the amounts disclosed in the financial statements involve the use of judgments, estimates and assumptions. These

judgments and estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances at the time, having

regard to prior experience, and are continually evaluated. 

i. Significant judgments

Determination of ore reserves and resources

Judgments about the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s properties is made

by management using a range of geological, technical and economic factors, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven

and probable reserves as well as data regarding quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs,

transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. This process may require complex and difficult

geological judgments to interpret the data. The Company uses qualified persons (as defined by the Canadian Securities

Administrators’ National Instrument 43-101) to compile this data.

Achievement of commercial production 

Once a mine reaches the operating levels intended by management, depreciation of capitalized costs begins. Significant

judgment is required to determine when certain of the Company’s assets reach this level; management consider several factors

including: completion of a reasonable period of commissioning; consistent operating results are being achieved at a pre-

determined level of design capacity and indications exist that this level will continue; mineral recoveries are at or near expected

production level; and the transfer of operations from development personnel to operational personnel has been completed.

Determination of useful lives of assets for depreciation purposes

Significant judgment is involved in the determination of useful life and residual values for long-lived assets that drive the

calculation of depreciation charges. Changes in the judgment of useful lives and residual values may impact the depreciation

charge shown in the consolidated statements of earnings. 
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Taxes

Judgment is required in determining whether deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet.

In the normal course of business the Company is subject to assessment by taxation authorities in various jurisdictions. These

authorities may have different interpretations of tax legislation or tax agreements than those applied by the Company in

computing current and deferred income taxes. These different interpretations may alter the timing or amounts of taxable

income or deductions. The final amount of taxes to be paid or recovered depends on a number of factors including the outcome

of audits, appeals and negotiation. The Company provides for potential differences in interpretation based on a best estimate of

the probable outcome of these matters. Changes in these estimates could result in material adjustments to the Company’s

current and deferred income taxes.

Functional currency

The functional currency of the Company and for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the United States dollar (“USD”), which is

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Determination of functional currency may involve certain

judgments to determine the primary economic environment and this is re-evaluated for each new entity, or if conditions change.

ii. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates are inherently uncertain and therefore actual results may differ from the amounts included in the financial statements,

potentially having a material future effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The estimates and assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are addressed below: 

Determination of ore reserves and resources and life of mine plan

Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s properties.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by

analyzing geological data such as drilling samples. Following this, the quantity of ore that can be extracted in an economical

manner is calculated using data regarding the life of mine plans and forecast sales prices (based on current and long-term

historical average price trends). 

The majority of the Company’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the estimated lives of the assets on a units-

of-production basis. The calculation of the units-of-production rate, and therefore the annual depreciation expense could be

materially affected by changes in the underlying estimates which are driven by the life of mine plans. Changes in estimates can

be the result of actual future production differing from current forecasts of future production, expansion of mineral reserves

through exploration activities, differences between estimated and actual costs of mining and differences in the commodity

prices used in the estimation of mineral reserves.

Changes in the proven and probable reserves estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment,

restoration provisions, recognition of deferred income tax amounts and depreciation. 

Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges

The Company reviews the carrying value of property, plant and equipment each reporting period to determine whether there is

any indication of impairment using both internal and external sources of information. If the recoverable amount of an asset or

cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is

reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of earnings.

External sources of information regarding indications of impairment include considering the changes in market, economic

and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control and affect the recoverable amount or timing

of mining interests. Internal sources of information include changes to the life of mine plans and economic performance of

the assets.

Management’s determination of recoverable amounts include estimates of mineral prices, recoverable reserves, and operating,

capital and restoration costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the recoverability of mineral property

costs. The calculation of the recoverable amount can also include assumptions regarding the appropriate discount rate and

inflation and exchange rates. Although management has made its best estimate of these factors, it is possible that changes could

occur in the near term that could adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow to be generated from its projects.
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Estimation of the amount and timing of restoration and remediation costs

Accounting for restoration provisions requires management to make estimates of the future costs the Company will incur to

complete the restoration and remediation work required to comply with existing laws, regulations and agreements in place at

each mining operation and any environmental and social principles the Company is in compliance with. The calculation of the

present value of these costs also includes assumptions regarding the applicable risk-free interest rate for discounting those

future cash outflows, inflation and foreign exchange rates and assumptions relating to probabilities of alternative estimates of

future cash outflows. Actual costs incurred may differ from those amounts estimated. Also, future changes to environmental laws

and regulations could increase the extent of restoration work required to be performed by the Company. Increases in future

costs could materially impact the amounts charged to operations for restoration. 

The provision represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future restoration and remediation costs. The

actual future expenditures may differ from the amounts currently provided; any increase in future costs could materially impact

the amounts included in the liability disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Deferred income taxes 

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assets arising from unutilized tax losses which requires management to assess the

likelihood that the Company will generate taxable earnings in future periods in order to utilize those losses, and the timing of

this. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws

in each jurisdiction. Forecast cash flows are based on life of mine projections.

To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to realize

the net deferred income tax assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted. In addition, future changes in tax laws

could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods from deferred income tax assets. 

Financial instruments risk exposure

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks arising from financial instruments. These risks, and management’s objectives,

policies and procedures for managing these risks are disclosed as follows:

Credit risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and bank balances, short-term deposits, derivative instruments, trade and

other receivables and promissory note receivable. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of

each class of financial assets, including commodity contracts, recorded in the consolidated balance sheet. 

The Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key transactional bank accounts with highly

rated financial institutions. The Company manages its credit risk on short-term deposits by only investing with counterparties that

carry investment-grade ratings as assessed by external rating agencies and spreading the investments across these counterparties.

Under the Company’s risk management policy, allowable counterparty exposure limits are determined by the level of the rating

unless exceptional circumstances apply. A rating of “A–” grade or equivalent is the minimum allowable rating required as assessed

by international credit rating agencies. Likewise, it is the Company’s policy to deal with banking counterparties for derivatives who

are rated “A–” grade or above by international credit rating agencies and graduated counterparty limits are applied depending

upon the rating.

Exceptions to the policy for dealing with relationship banks with ratings below “A–” are reported to, and approved by, the Audit

Committee. As at December 31, 2012 substantially all cash and short-term deposits are with counterparties with ratings “A–”

or higher.

The Company’s credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable is managed through establishing long-term contractual

relationships with international trading companies using industry-standard contract terms. More than 20% of the Company’s trade

receivables are generated from two customers together representing greater than 40% of the total sales for the year. Other

accounts receivable consist of amounts owing from government authorities in relation to the refund of value-added taxes applying

to inputs for the production process and property, plant and equipment expenditures.
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The promissory note receivable from ENRC includes mandatory prepayment features triggered by the counterparty’s circumstances:

delisting from the London Stock Exchange; the counterparty’s long-term unsecured, unsubordinated debt being downgraded to a

rating lower than “B–” by Moody’s Investor Services Limited; a material portion of the counterparty’s assets are nationalized and/or

expropriated by any government entities; or it becomes unlawful for the counterparty to perform any of their obligations under the

promissory note.

Liquidity risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash and cash equivalent balances and available credit facilities to ensure that

it is able to meet its short-term and long-term obligations as and when they fall due. Company-wide cash projections are managed

centrally and regularly updated to reflect the dynamic nature of the business and fluctuations caused by commodity price and

exchange rate movements.

In addition, the Company was obligated under its corporate revolving credit and term loan facility to maintain liquidity and satisfy

various ratio tests on an historical and prospective cash flow basis. These ratios were in compliance during the year ended

December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

Market risks

a) Commodity price risk 

The Company is subject to commodity price risk from fluctuations in the market prices of copper, gold, nickel and PGE and other

elements. The Company is also exposed to commodity price risk on diesel fuel required for mining operations and sulphur required

for acid production. The Company’s risk management policy allows for the management of these exposures through the use of

derivative financial instruments. 

The Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial instruments unless there is an outstanding contract resulting in

exposure to market risks that it intends to mitigate. As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had entered

into derivative contracts for copper, gold, nickel and PGE in order to reduce the effects of fluctuations in metal prices between the

time of the shipment of metal from the mine site and the date agreed for pricing the final settlement. 

As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had not entered into any diesel or sulphur derivatives.

The Company’s commodity price risk related to accounts receivable related to changes in fair value of embedded derivatives in

accounts receivable reflecting copper and gold sales provisionally priced based on the forward price curve at the end of each

quarter and the commodity price risk related to long-term debt related to the embedded copper derivative in the Kansanshi

subordinated debt facility.

b) Interest rate risk 

The Company’s interest rate risk arises from interest paid on floating rate borrowings and the interest received on cash and short-

term deposits. 

Deposits are invested on a short-term basis to ensure adequate liquidity for payment of operational and capital expenditures. To

date no interest-rate management products, such as swaps, are used in relation to deposits. 

The Company manages its interest rate risk on borrowings on a net basis after first recognizing the natural hedge arising from

floating rate deposits. The Company has a policy allowing floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps targeting 50% of exposure over a

five-year period. As at December 31, 2012, the Company held no floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. As at December 31, 2011 the

Company held no floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. 

c) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company’s functional and reporting currency is USD. As virtually all of the Company’s revenues are derived in USD and the

majority of its business is conducted in USD, foreign exchange risk arises from transactions denominated in currencies other than

USD. Commodity sales are denominated in USD, the majority of borrowings are denominated in USD and the majority of operating

expenses are denominated in USD. The Company’s primary foreign exchange exposures are to the local currencies in the countries

where the Company’s operations are located, principally the Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”), Australian dollar (“AUD”) Mauritanian

ouguiya (“MRO”) and the Euro (“EUR”); and to the local currencies of suppliers who provide capital equipment for project

development, principally the AUD, EUR and the South African rand (“ZAR”).
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Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the financial statements are listed below.

This listing of standards and interpretations issued are those that the Company reasonably expects to have an impact on

disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date. 

IAS 1 – Financial statement presentation – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income.

The amendments of IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that could be reclassified

(or ‘recycled’) to net earnings at a future point in time would be presented separately from items that will never be reclassified. The

amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The amendment affects presentation only and

has no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance. The Company does not anticipate these amendments to have a

significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments: Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in

November 2009 and amended in October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of

financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value

and those measured at amortized cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s

business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial

liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is

taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive

income rather than in net earnings, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The standard becomes effective for annual periods

beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 9 to have a significant impact on its

consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

The amendments of IFRS 10 change the definition of control under IFRS so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to

determine control. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does

not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 10 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

The amendments of IFRS 11 reduce the types of joint arrangement to two: joint ventures and joint operations. IFRS 11 requires the

use of equity accounting for interests in joint ventures, eliminating the existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for

jointly controlled entities under IAS 31. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 11 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

The amendments of IFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for entities reporting under IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, and replaces the

disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 28, Investments in Associates. The standard becomes effective for annual periods

beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact upon the Company’s financial

position or performance. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 12 to have a significant impact on its consolidated

financial statements.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and single source of

fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements do not extend the use of fair value

accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards

within IFRS. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not

anticipate the adoption of IFRS 13 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

The Interpretation of IFRIC 20 gives clarification on the requirements for accounting for stripping costs associated with waste

removal in surface mining, including when production stripping costs should be recognized as an asset, how the asset is initially

recognized, and subsequent measurement. IFRIC 20 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The

Company is currently evaluating the impact the new guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
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Disclosure controls and Procedures

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is

communicated to senior management, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined under the rules of the Canadian

Securities Administration, was conducted as of December 31, 2012 under the supervision of the Company’s Disclosure Committee

and with the participation of management. Based on the results of that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this

report in providing reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual filings, interim

filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in the

securities legislation. 

Since the December 31, 2012 evaluation, there have been no adverse changes to the Company’s controls and procedures and they

continue to remain effective.

internal control over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company’s

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS. The Company’s internal control over

financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

� pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the Company;

� provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with IFRS;

� ensure the Company’s receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with authorization of management and the

Company’s directors; and

� provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized transactions that could have a material

effect on the annual or interim financial statements.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was conducted as of December 31,

2012 by the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on this evaluation,

management has concluded that the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective.

There were no changes in the Company’s business activities during the period ended December 31, 2012 that have materially

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls over financial reporting.

limitations of controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believe that any disclosure controls

and procedures or internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only

reasonable and not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system

reflects the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because

of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of

fraud, if any, within the Company have been prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments

in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be

circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized override of the

control. The design of any systems of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events,

and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur

and not be detected. 
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cautionary statement on forward-looking information

Certain statements and information herein, including all statements that are not historical facts, contain forward-looking statements

and forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities laws. These forward-looking statements are principally

included in the Development activities section and are also disclosed in other sections of the document. The forward-looking

statements include estimates, forecasts and statements as to the Company’s expectations of production and sales volumes, expected

timing of completion of project development at Kansanshi, Sentinel and Enterprise, the impact of ore grades on future production,

the potential of production disruptions, capital expenditure and mine production costs, the outcome of mine permitting, the

outcome of legal proceedings which involve the Company, information with respect to the future price of copper, gold, cobalt, nickel,

PGE, and sulphuric acid, estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources, our exploration and development program, estimated

future expenses, exploration and development capital requirements, the Company’s hedging policy, and our goals and strategies.

Often, but not always, forward-looking statements or information can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or

“does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate” or

“believes” or variations of such words and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might”

or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved.

With respect to forward-looking statements and information contained herein, we have made numerous assumptions including

among other things, assumptions about the price of copper, gold, nickel, PGE, cobalt and sulphuric acid, anticipated costs and

expenditures and our ability to achieve our goals. Although our management believes that the assumptions made and the

expectations represented by such statements or information are reasonable, there can be no assurance that a forward-looking

statement or information herein will prove to be accurate. Forward-looking statements and information by their nature are based

on assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results,

performance or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or information. These factors include, but are not limited to, future

production volumes and costs, costs for inputs such as oil, power and sulphur, political stability in Zambia, Peru, Mauritania, Finland

and Australia, adverse weather conditions in Zambia, Finland and Mauritania, labour disruptions, mechanical failures, water supply,

procurement and delivery of parts and supplies to the operations, the production of off-spec material. 

See our Annual Information Form for additional information on risks, uncertainties and other factors relating to the forward-looking

statements and information. Although we have attempted to identify factors that would cause actual actions, events or results to

differ materially from those disclosed in the forward-looking statements or information, there may be other factors that cause

actual results, performances, achievements or events not to be anticipated, estimated or intended. Also, many of these factors are

beyond our control. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements or information. We

undertake no obligation to reissue or update forward-looking statements or information as a result of new information or events

after the date hereof except as may be required by law. All forward-looking statements and information made herein are qualified

by this cautionary statement.
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ManageMent’s ResPonsiBility FoR Financial RePoRting

The consolidated financial statements of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. and the information contained in the annual report have
been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as included in the Handbook of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants and, where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates and judgments based on
currently available information.

Management has developed and is maintaining a system of internal controls to obtain reasonable assurance that the Company’s
assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorized and financial information is reliable.

The Company’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who are appointed by the shareholders, conduct an audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report outlines the scope of their audit and gives their
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the independent auditors to review the
scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the consolidated financial statements and related financial reporting matters
prior to approval of the consolidated financial statements.

Signed by Signed by
Philip K.R. Pascall Hannes Meyer
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 5, 2013
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To the Shareholders of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of First Quantum Minerals Ltd., which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and the consolidated statements of earnings,
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First Quantum
Minerals Ltd. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants

March 5, 2013

inDePenDent auDitoRs’ RePoRt
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Note 2012 2011

Sales revenues 18 2,950.4 2,583.5
Cost of sales 19, 20 (1,849.4) (1,275.5)

Gross profit 1,101.0 1,308.0
Exploration (49.7) (73.0)
General and administrative 20 (76.0) (73.8)
Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets 21 1,217.9 –
Bond inducement costs 10 – (48.4)
Other income (expense) 22 (4.3) 7.3

Operating profit 2,188.9 1,120.1
Finance income 23.6 5.3
Finance costs 23 (15.3) (9.9)

Earnings before income taxes 2,197.2 1,115.5
Income taxes 14 (327.8) (460.7)

Net earnings for the year 1,869.4 654.8

Net earnings for the year attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 96.5 125.9
Shareholders of the Company 1,772.9 528.9

Earnings per common share
Basic 16 3.74 1.18
Diluted 16 3.72 1.18

Weighted average shares outstanding (000’s)
Basic 16 473,893 447,224
Diluted 16 476,310 449,457

Total shares issued and outstanding (000’s) 15 476,310 476,310

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

consoliDateD stateMents oF eaRnings
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in millions of U.S. dollars, except where indicated and share and per share amounts)
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consoliDateD stateMents oF coMPReHensiVe incoMe
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in millions of U.S. dollars)

Note 2012 2011

Net earnings for the year 1,869.4 654.8
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 6 (7.3) 0.2
Tax on unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 1.8 –

Comprehensive income for the year 1,863.9 655.0

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests 96.5 125.9
Shareholders of the Company 1,767.4 529.1

1,863.9 655.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consoliDateD stateMents oF casH Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in millions of U.S. dollars)

Note 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings for the year 1,869.4 654.8
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 7 172.3 112.0
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss 1.9 (2.1)
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 290.4 (13.1)
Income tax expense 37.4 473.8
Share-based compensation expense 17 15.9 8.8
Bond inducement costs 10 – 48.4
Net finance (income) costs (8.3) 9.9
Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets 21 (1,217.9) –
Other 4.1 6.8

1,165.2 1,299.3
Taxes paid (458.8) (598.4)
Change in non-cash operating working capital

(Increase) decrease in trade, other receivables and derivatives (183.0) 92.3
Increase in inventories (224.4) (241.1)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other payables 80.4 (118.9)
Long-term incentive plan contributions (36.9) (20.9)

342.5 412.3

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,316.7) (1,049.5)
Deposits on property, plant and equipment (56.6) (59.2)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.6 –
Acquisitions of investments (46.1) –
Interest received 3.5 4.1
Proceeds from settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets 736.5 9.9

(677.8) (1,094.7)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net movement in trading facility 0.7 (14.6)
Repayments of debt (5.1) (83.6)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes 9 338.8 –
Proceeds on issuance of common shares – 16.1
Cash paid on bond inducement 10 – (48.4)
Restricted cash – 40.4
Dividends paid (91.0) (79.3)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (39.0) (10.8)
Finance lease payments (3.8) (3.7)
Interest paid (8.4) (26.5)

192.2 (210.4)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (143.1) (892.8)
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 452.1 1,344.9

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 26 309.0 452.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consoliDateD Balance sHeets
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in millions of U.S. dollars)

December 31, December 31, 
Note 2012 2011

assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26 309.0 452.1
Trade and other receivables 4 390.2 238.1
Inventories 5 903.7 649.9
Current portion of other assets 8 230.1 34.0

1,833.0 1,374.1
Investments 6 55.6 18.0
Property, plant and equipment 7 4,953.6 3,824.4
Promissory note receivable 21 481.8 –
Other assets 8 212.4 81.5

Total assets 7,536.4 5,298.0

liaBilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 355.5 273.4
Current taxes payable  32.5 289.4
Current portion of debt 9 49.1 48.1
Current portion of provisions and other liabilities 11 6.5 11.0

443.6 621.9
Debt 9 347.7 14.8
Provisions and other liabilities 11 299.2 286.4
Deferred income tax liabilities 14 564.5 206.4

Total liabilities 1,655.0 1,129.5

eQuity
Share capital 1,929.6 1,950.6
Retained earnings 3,405.7 1,723.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4.3) 1.2

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 5,331.0 3,675.6
Non-controlling interests 550.4 492.9

Total equity 5,881.4 4,168.5

Total liabilities and equity 7,536.4 5,298.0

Commitments 27

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on March 5, 2013.

Signed by Signed by
Andrew Adams, Director Peter St. George, Director
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consoliDateD stateMents oF cHanges in sHaReHolDeRs’ eQuity
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in millions of U.S. dollars)

Note 2012 2011

sHaRe caPital
Common shares
Balance – beginning of year 2,003.8 1,479.3

Shares issued and share options exercised – 16.1
Conversion of convertible bonds 10 – 508.4

Balance – end of year 2,003.8 2,003.8

Equity portion of convertible bonds
Balance – beginning of year – 48.3

Conversion of convertible bonds 10 – (48.3)

Balance – end of year – –

Treasury shares
Balance – beginning of year (68.0) (57.0)

Restricted and performance stock units vested 6.0 9.9
Shares purchased 15b (36.9) (20.9)

Balance – end of year (98.9) (68.0)

Contributed surplus
Balance – beginning of year 14.8 15.9

Share-based compensation expense for the year 17a 15.9 8.8
Restricted and performance stock units vested 17a (6.0) (9.9)

Balance – end of year 24.7 14.8

Total share capital 1,929.6 1,950.6

Retained earnings 
Balance – beginning of year 1,723.8 1,274.2

Earnings for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company 1,772.9 528.9
Dividends (91.0) (79.3)

Balance – end of year 3,405.7 1,723.8

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Balance – beginning of year 1.2 1.0

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year (5.5) 0.2

Balance – end of year (4.3) 1.2

Non-controlling interests 
Balance – beginning of year 492.9 377.8

Earnings attributable to non-controlling interests 96.5 125.9
Dividends (39.0) (10.8)

Balance – end of year 550.4 492.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. natuRe oF oPeRations

First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (“First Quantum” or “the Company”) is engaged in the production of copper, nickel, gold, cobalt,

platinum-group elements (“PGE”) and acid, and related activities including exploration and development. The Company has

operating mines located in Zambia, Australia, Finland and Mauritania. The Company is developing the Sentinel copper project 

in Zambia, and exploring the Haquira copper deposit in Peru. Operations in the République démocratique du Congo (“RDC”) 

were suspended in 2010. In March 2012 the Company sold materially all of its ownership interests in the RDC (note 21).

The Company has its primary listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange and a secondary listing on the London Stock Exchange. 

The Company is registered and domiciled in Canada, and its registered office is the 8th Floor – 543 Granville Street, Vancouver, 

BC, Canada, V6C 1X8. 

2. Basis oF PRePaRation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS. For these purposes, IFRS comprise the

standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations

Committee (“IFRICs”) and the former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SICs”). The Company has consistently applied the same

accounting policies throughout all periods presented. 

3. suMMaRy oF signiFicant accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described below.

a) Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, with the exception of available-

for-sale financial assets which are measured at fair value.

b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose

entities) controlled by the Company (“its subsidiaries”). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of

during the year are included in the consolidated statement of earnings from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective

date of disposal, as appropriate. 

The principal operating subsidiaries are Kansanshi Mining Plc (“Kansanshi”), First Quantum Mining and Operations Limited (“FQMO”),

Mauritanian Copper Mines SARL (“Guelb Moghrein”), FQM Kevitsa Mining OY (“Kevitsa”) and Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations Pty

Ltd. (“Ravensthorpe”). The exploration subsidiaries include Antares Minerals Inc. (“Antares”) and Kalumbila Minerals Limited

(“Kalumbila”). All the above operating subsidiaries are 100% owned, with the exception of Kansanshi in which the Company holds

an 80% interest.

The Company established an independent trust to purchase the common shares necessary to satisfy the Company’s long-term

incentive plan. The Company consolidates the trust as it has the power to govern the financial and operating policies and to obtain

the benefits from its activities. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company’s equity therein.

Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the non-

controlling interest’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. 

notes to consoliDateD Financial stateMents
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(amounts expressed in millions of U.S. dollars, except where indicated and share and per share amounts)
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c) significant judgments, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting policies

Many of the amounts disclosed in the financial statements involve the use of judgments, estimates and assumptions. These

judgments and estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances at the time, 

having regard to prior experience, and are continually evaluated. 

i. Significant judgments

� Determination of ore reserves and resources

Judgments about the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s properties is

made by management using a range of geological, technical and economic factors, history of conversion of mineral deposits

to proven and probable reserves as well as data regarding quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates,

production costs, transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. This process may require

complex and difficult geological judgments to interpret the data. The Company uses qualified persons (as defined by the

Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 43-101) to compile this data.

Changes in the judgments surrounding proven and probable reserves may impact the carrying value of property, plant

and equipment (note 7), restoration provisions (note 12), recognition of deferred income tax amounts (note 14) and

depreciation (note 7).

� Achievement of commercial production – (accounting policy note 3f(i))

Once a mine reaches the operating levels intended by management, depreciation of capitalized costs begins. Significant

judgment is required to determine when certain of the Company’s assets reach this level; management consider several

factors including: completion of a reasonable period of commissioning; consistent operating results are being achieved 

at a pre-determined level of design capacity and indications exist that this level will continue; mineral recoveries are at or

near expected production level; and the transfer of operations from development personnel to operational personnel has

been completed.

On August 18, 2012, the Company determined that the Kevitsa mine was capable of operating at the levels intended by

management and a declaration of commercial production was made.

� Determination of useful lives of assets for depreciation purposes – (accounting policy note 3f )

Significant judgment is involved in the determination of useful life and residual values for long-lived assets that drive the

calculation of depreciation charges. Changes in the judgment of useful lives and residual values may impact the depreciation

charge shown in the consolidated statements of earnings and in note 7. 

� Taxes – (accounting policy note 3k)

Judgment is required in determining whether deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet.

In the normal course of business the Company is subject to assessment by taxation authorities in various jurisdictions. These

authorities may have different interpretations of tax legislation or tax agreements than those applied by the Company in

computing current and deferred income taxes. These different interpretations may alter the timing or amounts of taxable

income or deductions. The final amount of taxes to be paid or recovered depends on a number of factors including the

outcome of audits, appeals and negotiation. The Company provides for potential differences in interpretation based a best

estimate of the probable outcome of these matters. Changes in these estimates could result in material adjustments to the

Company’s current and deferred income taxes.

� Functional currency – (accounting policy note 3d)

The functional currency of the Company and for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the United States dollar (“USD”),

which is the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Determination of functional currency may involve

certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment and this is re-evaluated for each new entity, or if

conditions change. 
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ii. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates are inherently uncertain and therefore actual results may differ from the amounts included in the financial statements,

potentially having a material future effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The estimates and assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are addressed below: 

� Determination of ore reserves and resources and life of mine plan

Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s properties.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined

by analyzing geological data such as drilling samples. Following this, the quantity of ore that can be extracted in an

economical manner is calculated using data regarding the life of mine plans and forecast sales prices (based on current 

and long-term historical average price trends). 

The majority of the Company’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the estimated lives of the assets on a

units-of-production basis. The calculation of the units-of-production rate, and therefore the annual depreciation expense

could be materially affected by changes in the underlying estimates which are driven by the life of mine plans. Changes in

estimates can be the result of actual future production differing from current forecasts of future production, expansion of

mineral reserves through exploration activities, differences between estimated and actual costs of mining and differences 

in the commodity prices used in the estimation of mineral reserves.

Changes in the proven and probable reserves estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment

(note 7), restoration provisions (note 12), recognition of deferred income tax amounts (note 14) and depreciation (note 7). 

� Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges – (accounting policy note 3h)

The Company reviews the carrying value of property, plant and equipment each reporting period to determine whether

there is any indication of impairment using both internal and external sources of information. If the recoverable amount of

an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-

generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated

statement of earnings. 

External sources of information regarding indications of impairment include considering the changes in market, economic

and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control and affect the recoverable amount 

or timing of mining interests. Internal sources of information include changes to the life of mine plans and economic

performance of the assets.

Management’s determination of recoverable amounts include estimates of mineral prices, recoverable reserves, and

operating, capital and restoration costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the recoverability of

mineral property costs. The calculation of the recoverable amount can also include assumptions regarding the appropriate

discount rate and inflation and exchange rates. Although management has made its best estimate of these factors, it is

possible that changes could occur in the near term that could adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow

to be generated from its projects. The carrying value of property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet date is disclosed

in note 7 and by mine location in note 24.

� Estimation of the amount and timing of restoration and remediation costs – (accounting policy note 3i)

Accounting for restoration provisions requires management to make estimates of the future costs the Company will incur to

complete the restoration and remediation work required to comply with existing laws, regulations and agreements in place

at each mining operation and any environmental and social principles the Company is in compliance with. The calculation 

of the present value of these costs also includes assumptions regarding the applicable risk-free interest rate for discounting

those future cash outflows, inflation and foreign exchange rates and assumptions relating to probabilities of alternative

estimates of future cash outflows. Actual costs incurred may differ from those amounts estimated. Also, future changes to

environmental laws and regulations could increase the extent of restoration work required to be performed by the Company.

Increases in future costs could materially impact the amounts charged to operations for restoration. 

The provision represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future restoration and remediation costs.

The actual future expenditures may differ from the amounts currently provided; any increase in future costs could materially

impact the amounts included in the liability disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet. The carrying amount of the

Company’s restoration provision is disclosed in note 12.
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� Deferred income taxes – (accounting policy note 3k)

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assets arising from unutilized tax losses which requires management to assess

the likelihood that the Company will generate taxable earnings in future periods in order to utilize those losses, and the

timing of this. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application 

of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. Forecast cash flows are based on life of mine projections.

To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to

realize the net deferred income tax assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted. In addition, future changes

in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods from deferred income tax assets.

Deferred income tax assets are disclosed in note 14.

d) Foreign currency translation 

The presentation currency and the functional currency of the Company and all of the Company’s operations is the USD. The

Company’s foreign currency transactions are translated into USD at the rate of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated using period end exchange rates with any gains and losses included in the

determination of net earnings. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using historical rates. 

e) inventories

Product inventories comprise ore in stockpiles; acid and metal work-in-progress; finished acid; finished cathode and metal in

concentrate; and gold bullion. Product inventories are recorded at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Cost

includes materials, direct labour, other direct costs and production overheads and depreciation of plant, equipment and mineral

properties directly involved in the mining and production processes. Waste rock stripping costs related to production are

inventoried as incurred.

When inventories have been written down to net realizable value, a new assessment of net realizable value is made in each

subsequent period. When the circumstances that caused the write down no longer exist, or when there is clear evidence of 

an increase in net realizable value because of changed economic circumstances the amount of the write down is reversed. 

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of purchase cost and net realizable value and recorded as a current asset.

Inventories on hand that will not be processed within one year are classified as long-term.

f) Property, plant and equipment

i) Mineral properties and mine development costs

Exploration and evaluation costs are expensed in the period incurred. Property acquisition costs are capitalized. Development

costs relating to specific properties are capitalized once management determines the property will be developed. A development

decision is made based upon consideration of project economics, including future metal prices, reserves and resources, and

estimated operating and capital costs. Capitalization of costs incurred and revenue received during production ceases when 

the property is capable of operating at levels intended by management.

Property acquisition and mine development costs, including costs incurred during the production phase to increase future output

by providing access to additional reserves, are deferred and depreciated on a units-of-production basis over the component of

the reserves to which they relate.

ii) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs recorded for assets under construction

include all expenditures incurred in connection with the development and construction of the assets. No depreciation is recorded

until the assets are substantially complete and ready for productive use. Where relevant, the Company has estimated residual

values on certain plant and equipment.
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Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using either the straight-line or units-of-production basis over the shorter of the

estimated useful life of the asset or the life of mine. The major asset categories of depreciable assets and their estimated useful

lives are as follows:

Computer equipment and software 30–33%

Office equipment 33%

Furniture and fittings 15%

Buildings 2%–5%

Motor vehicles 20–25%

Depreciation on equipment utilized in the development of assets, including open pit and underground mine development, is

depreciated and recapitalized as development costs attributable to the related asset.

iii) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost

of the asset until such time as the asset is substantially complete and ready for its intended use or sale. Where funds have been

borrowed specifically to finance an asset, the amount capitalized is the actual borrowing costs incurred. Where the funds used 

to finance an asset form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of rates

applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Company during the period.

g) Finance leases

Finance leases which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item 

are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum

lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and the reduction of the lease liability so as to 

achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are reflected in net earnings.

The depreciation policy for leased assets is consistent with that for similar assets owned. 

h) asset impairment 

The Company performs impairment tests on property, plant and equipment, mineral properties and mine development costs 

when events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate the assets may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating

unit to which the assets belong. Cash-generating units are individual operating mines or exploration and development projects.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is determined as the

amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing

parties. For mining assets this would generally be determined based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows arising

from the continued development, use or eventual disposal of the asset. In assessing these cash flows and discounting them to

present value, assumptions used are those that an independent market participant would consider appropriate. Value in use is the

estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of the assets in their present form and from their disposal

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount

of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the

consolidated statement of earnings. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised

estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have

been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognized in net earnings immediately.
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i) Restoration provisions 

The Company recognizes liabilities for constructive or legal obligations, including those associated with the reclamation of mineral

properties and property, plant and equipment, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, development 

or normal operation of assets. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditures required to settle the

obligation using a pre-tax discount rate reflecting the time value of money and risks specific to the liability. The liability is increased

for the passage of time and adjusted for changes to the current market-based risk-free discount rate, and the amount or timing of

the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation. The associated restoration costs are capitalized as part of the carrying

amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the expected useful life of the asset.

j) Revenue recognition

The Company produces copper cathode, copper, nickel, gold, cobalt and PGE in concentrate and gold bullion. Copper, nickel, gold,

cobalt and PGE products are sold under pricing arrangements where final prices are set at a specified date based on market prices.

Revenues are recognized when title and risk pass to the customer. Changes between the prices recorded upon recognition of

revenue and the final price due to fluctuations in metal market prices result in the existence of an embedded derivative in the

accounts receivable. This embedded derivative is recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value classified as a component of 

cost of sales. 

k) current and deferred income taxes 

Current tax expense is calculated using income tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements

and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the liability method.

Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred income tax assets are

generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability

is settled or the asset realized, based on income tax rates and income tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred income tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would

follow from the manner in which the Company expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against

current tax liabilities, and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to

settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l) share-based compensation

The Company grants equity settled performance stock units (“PSUs”) and equity settled restricted stock units (“RSUs”) under its

long-term incentive plan and share options under its share option plan to directors and employees. The Company expenses the fair

value of PSUs, RSUs and share options granted over the vesting period. 

PSUs typically vest at the end of a three year period if certain performance and vesting criteria, based on the Company’s share price

performance relative to a representative group of other mining companies, have been met. The fair value of PSUs is determined

using a valuation model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the expected life of the PSU, expected volatility, expected

dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate over the life of the PSU to generate potential outcomes for share prices, which are 

used to estimate the probability of the PSUs vesting at the end of the performance measurement period. 

RSUs typically vest at the end of a three year period and the fair value of RSUs is determined by reference to the share price of the

Company at the date of grant. 
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m) earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Shares acquired

under the long-term incentive plan are treated as treasury shares and are deducted from the number of shares outstanding for 

the calculation of basic earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the treasury share method whereby 

all “in the money” options, warrants and equivalents are assumed to have been exercised at the beginning of the period and the

proceeds from the exercise are assumed to have been used to purchase common shares at the average market price during 

the period.

n) Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, investments, promissory

note receivable, trade payables and accrued liabilities, debt, convertible bonds and derivative instruments. 

i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand and other short-term investments with initial maturities of less

than three months. It excludes cash subject to restrictions under debt facilities. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

have been classified as loans and receivables. 

ii) Trade receivables and promissory note receivable

Trade receivables and promissory note receivable are classified as loans and receivables and accordingly are recorded initially 

at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

iii) Investments

Investments are recognized initially at fair value on the trade date, plus, in the case of investments that are not at fair value

through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. Investments are designated as available-for-sale and are normally

measured at the reporting date at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 25. Investments in equity

instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are

measured at cost. Unrealized gains and losses on the marketable securities are recognized in other comprehensive income, until

the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized is

included in the consolidated statement of earnings. Dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are recognized in the

income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

iv) Derivatives and hedging 

A portion of the Company’s metal sales is sold on a provisional basis whereby sales are recognized at prevailing metal prices

when title transfers to the customer and final pricing is not determined until a subsequent date, typically two months later. The

Company enters into derivative contracts to directly offset the exposure to final pricing adjustments on the provisionally priced

contracts. The Company also periodically enters into derivative instruments to mitigate exposure to foreign exchange rates and

interest rates. The Company does not apply hedge accounting. Derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives,

are classified as fair value through profit or loss and measured at fair value as determined by active market prices and valuation

models, as appropriate. Valuation models require the use of assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future

cash flows and discount rates. In determining these assumptions, the Company uses readily observable market inputs where

available or, where not available, inputs generated by the Company. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are

recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings. 

v) Trade and other payables and debt

Trade payables and debt are classified as other financial liabilities and are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction

costs incurred, and are subsequently stated at amortized cost. For debt, any difference between the amounts originally received,

net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings over the period to

maturity using the effective interest rate method.

vi) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there 

is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the

estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. For loans and receivables, the amount of impairment is the

difference between the asset’s carrying value and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original

effective interest rate. Any impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings immediately. 
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With the exception of available-for-sale investments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and

the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized

impairment loss is reversed through the comprehensive statement of earnings to the extent that the carrying amount of the

investment at the date of impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognized. In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognized in the consolidated

statement of earnings are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is

recognized directly in equity.

o) accounting standards issued but not yet effective

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the financial statements are listed below.

This listing of standards and interpretations issued are those that the Company reasonably expects to have an impact on disclosures,

financial position or performance when applied at a future date. 

� IAS 1 – Financial statement presentation – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income.

The amendments of IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that could be

reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to net earnings at a future point in time would be presented separately from items that will never be

reclassified. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The amendment affects

presentation only and has no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance. The Company does not anticipate

these amendments to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

� IFRS 9 – Financial instruments: Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in

November 2009 and amended in October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement

of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair

value and those measured at amortized cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the

entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair

value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other

comprehensive income rather than in net earnings, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The standard becomes effective

for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 9 to have a

significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

� IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

The amendments of IFRS 10 change the definition of control under IFRS so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to

determine control. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does

not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 10 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

� IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

The amendments of IFRS 11 reduce the types of joint arrangement to two: joint ventures and joint operations. IFRS 11 requires the

use of equity accounting for interests in joint ventures, eliminating the existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for

jointly controlled entities under IAS 31. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 11 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

� IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

The amendments of IFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for entities reporting under IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, and replaces

the disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 28, Investments in Associates. The standard becomes effective for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact upon the Company’s

financial position or performance. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 12 to have a significant impact on its

consolidated financial statements.
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� IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and single

source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements do not extend the use of

fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other

standards within IFRS. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company

does not anticipate the adoption of IFRS 13 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

� IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

The Interpretation of IFRIC 20 gives clarification on the requirements for accounting for stripping costs associated with waste

removal in surface mining, including when production stripping costs should be recognized as an asset, how the asset is initially

recognized, and subsequent measurement. IFRIC 20 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact the new guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.

4. tRaDe anD otHeR ReceiVaBles 

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Trade receivables and other receivables 319.9 175.0

VAT receivable 70.3 63.1

390.2 238.1

5. inVentoRies

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Ore in stockpiles 158.1 95.1

Work-in-progress 27.2 14.3

Finished product 324.8 230.2

Total product inventory 510.1 339.6

Consumable stores 393.6 310.3

903.7 649.9

During the year $1,667.5 million (December 31, 2011 – $1,177.0 million) of inventory was expensed in cost of sales.

6. inVestMents

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Equity securities – at cost 16.0 9.5

Equity securities – at fair value 35.6 4.4

Asset-backed commercial paper 4.0 4.1

55.6 18.0

The following table summarizes the movements in the fair value of investments:

2012 2011

Balance – beginning of year 18.0 18.0

Additions 46.1 –

Disposals – (0.2)

Gain (loss) in fair value (8.5) 0.2

Balance – end of year 55.6 18.0

During the year the loss in fair value of available-for-sale investments was $7.3 million (December 31, 2011: gain of $0.2 million),

which is included in the above gain (loss) in fair value of investments.
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7. PRoPeRty, Plant anD eQuiPMent

Mineral properties and mine 
development costs

Plant and Capital Operating Development 
equipment work-in-progress mines projects Total

cost

As at January 1, 2011 1,548.3 337.1 48.7 1,289.7 3,223.8

Additions – 1,078.9 – – 1,078.9

Disposals (17.9) – – – (17.9)

Transfers between categories 478.1 (507.8) 265.9 (236.2) –

Restoration provisions – – 58.8 59.0 117.8

Capitalized interest 5.5 1.9 – 19.7 27.1

Capitalized depreciation – 12.1 – – 12.1

As at December 31, 2011 2,014.0 922.2 373.4 1,132.2 4,441.8

Additions – 1,314.8 – – 1,314.8

Disposals (16.0) – – – (16.0)

Transfers between categories 792.6 (934.7) 390.6 (248.5) –

Restoration provisions – – 8.2 3.2 11.4

Capitalized interest – 1.6 – – 1.6

As at December 31, 2012 2,790.6 1,303.9 772.2 886.9 5,753.6

accumulated depreciation

As at January 1, 2011 (456.8) – (36.1) – (492.9)

Depreciation charge (107.3) – (4.7) – (112.0)

Capitalized depreciation (12.1) – – – (12.1)

Disposals 4.5 – – – 4.5

Other (4.9) – – – (4.9)

As at December 31, 2011 (576.6) – (40.8) – (617.4)

Depreciation charge (137.8) – (34.5) – (172.3)

Disposals 12.3 – – – 12.3

Other (22.6) – – – (22.6)

As at December 31, 2012 (724.7) – (75.3) – (800.0)

net book value

As at December 31, 2011 1,437.4 922.2 332.6 1,132.2 3,824.4

As at December 31, 2012 2,065.9 1,303.9 696.9 886.9 4,953.6

During the year $1.6 million (December 31, 2011 – $27.1 million) of interest was capitalized relating to qualifying assets. The amount

capitalized in 2012 was determined by applying the weighted average cost of borrowings of 7.71% to the accumulated qualifying

expenditures on mining interests. The amount capitalized in 2011 related to interest costs directly attributable to the qualifying

assets under development with the cost of borrowing rate of 8.74%.
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8. otHeR assets

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Deposits on property, plant and equipment 115.8 59.2

Deferred income tax assets (note 14) 81.1 11.3

Derivative instruments (note 25) 5.0 5.1

Prepaid and other expenses 225.1 28.9

Other 15.5 11.0

Total other assets 442.5 115.5

Less: current portion of other assets (230.1) (34.0)

212.4 81.5

current portion consists of:

Derivative instruments (note 25) 5.0 5.1

Prepaid income taxes 164.4 –

Prepaid expenses 60.7 28.9

230.1 34.0

9. DeBt 

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Drawn debt

Senior notes (a) 339.1 –

Kansanshi subordinated debt facility (b) 14.8 19.3

Short-term borrowings (c) 42.6 43.3

Other 0.3 0.3

Total 396.8 62.9

Less: current portion of debt facilities and short-term debt (49.1) (48.1)

347.7 14.8

undrawn debt

Kevitsa facility (d) 250.0 250.0

Short-term borrowings (c) 67.4 66.7

Kansanshi senior term and revolving facility (e) 1,000.0 –

The scheduled future minimum principal repayments are as follows:

$

2013 49.1

2014 6.8

2015 6.6

2016 1.6

2017 1.6

Thereafter 331.1

396.8



69First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 2012 Annual Report  Our UNIQUE Investment Dynamics  DRIVING Shareholder VALUE

a) senior notes

In October 2012, the Company completed a public offering of $350 million in senior notes due in 2019, bearing interest at an annual

rate of 7.25%. The cash received from the offering of $338.8 million is net of issue and transaction costs of $11.2 million; issue costs

of $0.3 million have been expensed between the date of offering and the balance sheet date.

The notes are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Company may redeem some or all of

the notes at any time on or after October 15, 2015 at redemption prices ranging from 105.438% in the first year to 100% in the final

year, plus accrued interest. Although part of this redemption feature indicates the existence of an embedded derivative, the value 

of this is not significant. Prior to October 15, 2015, the notes may be redeemed at 100% plus a make-whole premium, and accrued

interest. In addition, until October 15, 2015, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of notes, in an amount

not greater than the net proceeds of certain equity offerings, at a redemption price of 107.25% plus accrued interest.

The Company is subject to certain restrictions on asset sales, payments, and incurrence of indebtedness and issuance of 

preferred stock.

b) Kansanshi subordinated debt facility 

Kansanshi entered into a €34.0 million subordinated debt facility in December 2003 to finance the Kansanshi project. This facility 

is repayable in nine equal annual payments commencing October 31, 2007. The facility has a principal amount outstanding of

€11.3 million (December 31, 2011 – €15.1 million). The carrying amount shown above of $14.8 million (December 31, 2011 –

$19.3 million) is net of issue and transaction costs of €0.1 million (December 31, 2011 – €0.2 million).

Interest is calculated annually, within a range of 3.2% to 13.2%, based on the average LME cash copper price for the preceding

calendar year. The interest rate is at its lower limit at a realized copper price of less than $1,300 per tonne and increases incrementally

until the copper price reaches its $2,200 per tonne upper limit. Indexation to the price of copper results in the existence of an

embedded derivative. This embedded derivative is recorded at fair value at each period with changes in fair value recorded as 

a component of net earnings disclosed within finance costs. 

c) short-term borrowings 

In 2010, the Company’s metal marketing division entered into two uncommitted borrowing facilities totalling $110.0 million. 

The facilities are used to finance purchases and the term hedging of copper and gold undertaken by the metal marketing division.

Interest on the facilities is calculated at the bank’s benchmark rate plus 1.75%. The loans are collateralized by physical inventories.

d) Kevitsa facility

In March 2011, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a $250.0 million project loan collateralized by the assets and offtake

agreements of the Kevitsa project. The facility is available in two tranches. Tranche A of $175.0 million is required to be repaid 

in equal annual instalments over four years starting March 31, 2013, and tranche B of $75.0 million is required to be repaid on

September 30, 2017. The funds are to be used to finance the development of the Kevitsa mine. Interest on the Kevitsa facility 

is to be calculated at LIBOR plus 3.5%. 

e) Kansanshi senior term and revolving facility 

In March 2012, Kansanshi entered into a $300.0 million senior term loan (the “term loan”) and a $700.0 million revolving credit

facility (the “facility”) to finance the Kansanshi expansion projects and the copper smelter project collateralized by the assets and

offtake agreements of Kansanshi. The term loan is repayable in six equal semi-annual instalments commencing on July 25, 2014 and

interest is calculated at a rate equal to three year LIBOR plus 3%. The revolving facility is required to be repaid by January 24, 2017

and interest is calculated at a rate of either the three or six month LIBOR plus 3%. 
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10. conVeRtiBle BonDs

In June 2009, the Company issued $500.0 million in 6% convertible bonds (the “Bonds”) due June 19, 2014 for net proceeds of

$488.0 million after payment of commissions and expenses related to the offering. The Bonds bore interest at 6% per annum,

payable semi-annually in equal instalments. 

On July 27, 2011, the Company announced a voluntary incentive payment offer in relation to the Bonds. The offer included a cash

payment of $8,088.91 per $100,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the “Incentive Payment”) and a cash payment of $1,410.68 

per $100,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the “Conversion Price Adjustment Payment”) to convert any or all of the convertible

bonds due 2014. The incentive offer period expired on July 28, 2011 with 99.98% of the bondholders accepting the conversion offer.

The offer was later extended to the remaining bondholder who accepted the offer in November 2011. 

On August 4, 2011, the Company issued 44,777,735 common shares and on December 5, 2011 the Company issued 8,957 common

shares. The $460.0 million convertible debt liability and the $48.3 million equity component of the convertible debt have been

transferred to common share capital. The incentive payment and other transactions costs of $48.4 million have been recognized 

in the statement of earnings in 2011. 

2012 2011

convertible bonds

As at January 1 – 452.1

Accretion expense – 7.9

Transferred to common share capital – (460.0)

As at December 31 – –

equity

As at January 1 – 48.3

Transferred to common share capital – (48.3)

As at December 31 – –

11. PRoVisions anD otHeR liaBilities

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Derivative instruments (note 25) 3.9 8.4

Restoration provisions (note 12) 270.5 252.5

Finance leases (note 13) 27.2 28.6

Other 4.1 7.9

Total other liabilities 305.7 297.4

Less: current portion (6.5) (11.0)

299.2 286.4

current portion consists of:

Derivative instruments 3.4 7.3

Restoration provisions (note 12) 0.6 1.3

Finance leases (note 13) 2.1 1.9

Other 0.4 0.5

6.5 11.0
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12. RestoRation PRoVisions

The Company has restoration and remediation obligations associated with its operating mines, processing facilities and development

projects. The following table summarizes the movements in the restoration provisions:

2012 2011

As at January 1 252.5 131.1

Changes in estimate 11.4 117.8

Accretion expense 6.6 3.6

As at December 31 270.5 252.5

Less: current portion (0.6) (1.3)

269.9 251.2

The restoration provisions have been recorded initially as a liability based on management’s best estimate of cash flows, using a

risk-free discount rate between 0.7% and 3.0% and an inflation factor between 2.8% and 4.0%. Payments are expected to occur 

over the life of each of the operating mines over a period of approximately 30 years. 

13. Finance leases

The Company has two finance leases for plant and equipment. The carrying value of the leased assets as of the balance sheet date

was as follows:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Cost 30.0 30.0

Less: accumulated depreciation (6.4) (3.2)

Net carrying value of finance lease agreements 23.6 26.8

The present value of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable finance lease agreements was as follows: 

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Discounted Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted

Within one year 2.1 3.8 1.9 3.7

After one year but not more than five years 10.0 15.2 9.2 14.9

More than five years 15.1 19.9 17.5 23.3

Total minimum lease payments 27.2 38.9 28.6 41.9

14. incoMe taxes

The significant components of the Company’s income tax expense are as follows:

2012 2011

Current income tax expense 37.4 473.8

Deferred income expense (recovery) 290.4 (13.1)

327.8 460.7
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The income taxes shown in the consolidated statements of earnings differ from the amounts obtained by applying statutory rates

to the earnings before income taxes due to the following:

2012 2011

Amount $ % Amount $ %

Earnings before income taxes 2,197.2 1,115.5

Income taxes at Canadian statutory rates 549.3 25 295.6 27

Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets (b) (304.5) (14) – –

Effect of Zambian variable tax (a) 95.9 4 139.4 12

Recognition of previously unrecognized losses (81.8) (4) – –

Difference in foreign tax rates 38.6 2 41.7 4

Non-deductible expenses 37.7 2 43.7 4

Losses not recognized (5.5) – (30.4) (3)

Foreign tax holiday (c) (1.9) – (29.3) (3)

Income tax expense 327.8 15 460.7 41

a) Included in the current and deferred income tax expense are amounts relating to the variable profit tax (“VPT”) introduced in

Zambia in 2008. The VPT causes an increase in the effective tax rate from the 30% base income tax rate for the Company to 43%. 

b) Settlement of the RDC claims (note 21) has no associated tax liability.

c) Guelb Moghrein was subject to a five year tax holiday with the Mauritanian government. Guelb Moghrein has been subject to

Mauritanian income taxes on income earned subsequent to February 2012.

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities included on the balance sheet are as follows:

2012 2011

Deferred income tax assets 81.1 11.3

Deferred income tax liabilities (564.5) (206.4)

(483.4) (195.1)

The significant components of the Company’s deferred income taxes are as follows:

2012 2011

Temporary differences relating to property, plant and equipment and finance leases (807.0) (291.4)

Unused operating losses 272.4 13.2

Temporary differences relating to non-current liabilities (including restoration provisions) 36.7 84.5

Temporary differences relating to inventory 5.2 3.1

Other 9.3 (4.5)

Net deferred income tax liabilities (483.4) (195.1)

The Company believes that it is probable that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the

above noted deferred income tax assets. The Company has operating loss carry-forwards that may be available for tax purposes 

in Canada totalling $146.1 million (December 31, 2011 – $195.2 million) expiring between 2014 and 2032.

The Company has non-Canadian resident subsidiaries that have undistributed earnings of $3,982.5 million (December 31, 2011 –

$2,168.4 million). These undistributed earnings are not expected to be repatriated in the foreseeable future and the Company has

control over the timing of such, therefore taxes that may apply on repatriation have not been provided for. 
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15. sHaRe caPital

a) common shares 

Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares without par value.

Issued

Number of shares
(000’s)

Balance as at January 1, 2011 430,878

Share options exercised 17

Conversion of convertible bonds (i) 44,787

Shares issued (ii) 628

Balance as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012 476,310

i) Conversion of convertible bonds

The convertible bonds were converted into common shares of the Company during 2011 (note 10).

ii) Lusaka stock exchange listing

On July 20, 2011 the Company issued 628,395 common shares for gross proceeds of $15.9 million in connection with a listing 

of depositary receipts on the Lusaka Stock Exchange in Zambia (the “LuSE”). These shares, together with 7,700 common shares 

in the capital of the Company purchased on the open market, will underlie the depositary receipts. The depositary receipts are

held by Zambian investors and employees and trade under the LuSE Symbol “FQM”.

b) treasury shares

The Company established an independent trust to purchase, on the open market, the common shares pursuant to the long-term

incentive plan (note 17). The Company consolidates the trust as it constitutes a special purpose entity. Consequently, shares

purchased by the trust to satisfy obligations under the long-term incentive plan are recorded as treasury shares in shareholders’

equity. Generally, dividends received on shares held in the trust will be paid to plan participants in cash as received.

Number of shares
(000’s)

Balance as at January 1, 2011 3,755

Shares purchased 950

Shares vested (748)

Balance as at December 31, 2011 3,957

Shares purchased 1,734

Shares vested (1,024)

Balance as at December 31, 2012 4,667

c) Dividends

On March 6, 2012, the Company declared a final dividend payment of C$0.1277 per share or $61.4 million in respect of the financial

year ended December 31, 2011 (March 15, 2011 – C$0.1206 per share or $53.5 million).

On August 1, 2012, the Company declared an interim dividend of C$0.0603 per share or $29.6 million in respect of the financial year

ended December 31, 2012 (August 8, 2011 – C$0.0533 per share or $25.8 million). 
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16. eaRnings PeR sHaRe 

2012 2011

Basic and diluted earnings attributable to shareholders of the Company 1,772.9 528.9

Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding (000’s of shares) 473,893 447,224

Effect of dilutive securities:

Treasury shares 2,417 2,233

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (000’s of shares) 476,310 449,457

Earnings per common share – basic 3.74 1.18

Earnings per common share – diluted 3.72 1.18

17. sHaRe-BaseD coMPensation

a) long-term incentive plan

The Company has a long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”), which provides for the issuance of performance stock units (“PSUs”) and

restricted stock units (“RSUs”) in such amounts as approved by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Included in general and

administrative expense is share-based compensation expense of $15.9 million (December 31, 2011 – $8.8 million) related to this Plan.

Under the Plan, each PSU entitles participants, which includes directors, officers, and employees, to receive up to one-and-a-half

common shares of the Company at the end of a three year period if certain performance and vesting criteria, which are based on

the Company’s performance relative to a representative group of other mining companies, have been met. The fair value of each

PSU is recorded as compensation expense over the vesting period. The fair value of each PSU is estimated using a Monte Carlo

Simulation approach. A Monte Carlo Simulation is a technique used to approximate the probability of certain outcomes, called

simulations, based on normally distributed random variables and highly subjective assumptions. This model generates potential

outcomes for stock prices and allows for the simulation of multiple stocks in tandem resulting in an estimated probability of vesting. 

Under the Plan, each RSU entitles the participant to receive one common share of the Company subject to vesting criteria. RSU

grants typically vest fully at the end of the three year period. The fair value of each RSU is recorded as compensation expense over

the vesting period. The fair value of each RSU is estimated based on the market value of the Company’s shares at the grant date 

and an estimated forfeiture rate of 11.5% (December 31, 2011 – 11.5%).

2012 2011

Number of units Number of units

(000’s) (000’s)

Performance stock units

Outstanding – beginning of year 2,106 1,898

Granted 1,064 654

Vested (522) (314)

Forfeited (129) (132)

Outstanding – end of year 2,519 2,106

Restricted stock units

Outstanding – beginning of year 1,699 1,637

Granted 1,107 626

Vested (502) (435)

Forfeited (210) (129)

Outstanding – end of year 2,094 1,699
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The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo Simulation model to calculate compensation expense in respect of the

PSUs granted:

2012 2011

Risk-free interest rate 1.08% 1.90%

Vesting period 3 years 3 years

Expected volatility 59.2% 77.5%

Expected forfeiture per annum 4% 4%

Weighted average probability of vesting 47.1% 36.2%

b) Key management compensation

Key management personnel include the members of the senior management team and directors.

2012 2011

Salaries, fees and other benefits 4.5 4.0

Bonus payments 2.0 2.0

Share-based compensation 2.4 3.7

Total compensation paid to key management 8.9 9.7

18. sales ReVenues By natuRe

2012 2011

Copper 2,232.2 2,317.9

Nickel 396.5 –

Gold 296.4 240.9

PGE and other elements 25.3 24.7

2,950.4 2,583.5

19. cost oF sales

2012 2011

Costs of production (1,797.1) (1,192.0)

Movement in inventory 120.0 28.5

Depletion and amortization (172.3) (112.0)

(1,849.4) (1,275.5)

20. exPenses By natuRe

2012 2011

Raw materials and consumables (772.4) (644.8)

Employment costs, benefits and contractors (468.7) (342.7)

Repairs and maintenance (181.6) (155.1)

Depreciation (172.3) (112.0)

Freight (122.1) (38.1)

Royalties (147.4) (80.8)

Utilities (58.9) (46.3)

Travel (17.4) (16.0)

Other (104.6) (38.4)

Increase in inventories 120.0 124.9

(1,925.4) (1,349.3)

Expenses presented above include cost of sales and general and administrative.
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21. settleMent oF RDc claiMs anD sale oF assets

On January 5, 2012 the Company reached an agreement with Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation PLC (“ENRC”) to dispose 

of its residual RDC assets for $1.25 billion. The transaction closed on March 2, 2012.

The Company received consideration of $750.0 million in cash and a three-year $500.0 million promissory note. The promissory note

is payable on March 2, 2015 and bears interest at a rate of 3% per annum payable annually in arrears. As part of the transaction, First

Quantum, ENRC, the RDC Government, International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and Industrial Development Corporation (“IDC”)

have also settled all disputes relating to the companies being sold and their assets and operations in the RDC.

The net settlement amount received has not given rise to a tax liability and accordingly reduces the Company’s overall effective 

tax rate for the period.

A reconciliation of the proceeds of the settlement is as follows:

Received in cash 750.0

Fair value of three-year promissory note 475.0

1,225.0

Payments made to IFC and IDC (14.0)

Transaction costs (4.6)

Net liabilities disposed of 11.5

Settlement of RDC claims and sale of assets 1,217.9

The promissory note receivable from ENRC is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and is accreted 

to face value over the original term using an annual effective interest rate of 1.72%. Interest income on the note for the year ended

December 31, 2012 was $5.6 million, net of $6.8 million of accretion. The accrued interest receivable at December 31, 2012 of

$12.5 million is included within other assets.

22. otHeR incoMe (exPense)

2012 2011

Foreign exchange gain (loss) (7.3) 6.2

Loss on sale of assets (2.1) (5.1)

Sundry income 5.1 6.2

(4.3) 7.3

23. Finance costs 

2012 2011

Interest expense on debt and finance leases (9.5) (7.0)

Interest expense on convertible bonds – (25.2)

Interest expense other (0.8) (0.9)

Accretion on restoration provision (6.6) (3.6)

Other finance costs – (0.3)

Total finance costs (16.9) (37.0)

Less: interest capitalized 1.6 27.1

(15.3) (9.9)
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24. segMenteD inFoRMation

The Company’s reportable operating segments are individual mine development projects or operations, being Kansanshi, Guelb

Moghrein, Ravensthorpe, Kevitsa, Sentinel and Corporate. Each of these mines and development projects report information

separately to the CEO, the chief operating decision maker. 

The corporate segment is responsible for the evaluation and acquisition of new mineral properties, regulatory reporting, treasury

and finance and corporate administration. Included in the corporate segment is the Company’s metal marketing division which

purchases and sells third party material. 

The Company’s operations are subject to seasonal aspects, in particular the rain season in Zambia. The rain season in Zambia generally

starts in November and continues through April, with the heaviest rainfall normally experienced in the months of January, February

and March. As a result of the rain season, mine pit access and the ability to mine ore is lower in the first quarter of the year than

other quarters and the cost of mining is higher. 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, segmented information is presented as follows: 

Guelb 
Kansanshi Moghrein Ravensthorpe Kevitsa Sentinel Corporate Total

Segmented revenues 1,979.9 394.4 387.7 72.1 – 219.2 3,053.3

Less inter-segment revenues – – – – – (102.9) (102.9)

Sales revenues 1,979.9 394.4 387.7 72.1 – 116.3 2,950.4

Cost of sales

Costs of production (1,053.6) (235.6) (356.6) (40.0) – (111.3) (1,797.1)

Movement in inventory 83.7 (6.4) 48.4 9.1 – (14.8) 120.0

Depreciation (80.6) (34.7) (37.0) (17.3) – (2.7) (172.3)

Segmented gross profit (loss) 929.4 117.7 42.5 23.9 – (12.5) 1,101.0

Other (14.1) (10.0) 2.8 (6.4) – 1,115.6 1,087.9

Segmented operating profit 915.3 107.7 45.3 17.5 – 1,103.1 2,188.9

Net finance income (costs) (3.0) (0.1) (4.3) (1.5) – 17.2 8.3

Segmented profit before 

undernoted items 912.3 107.6 41.0 16.0 – 1,120.3 2,197.2

Income taxes (380.7) 6.1 13.1 9.0 – 24.7 (327.8)

Non-controlling interests (96.7) – – – – 0.2 (96.5)

Segmented profit 434.9 113.7 54.1 25.0 – 1,145.2 1,772.9

Property, plant and equipment 1,670.6 208.6 939.3 810.0 692.3 632.8 4,953.6

Total assets 2,685.3 378.9 1,155.1 914.5 851.7 1,550.9 7,536.4

Total liabilities 798.0 52.7 226.9 36.3 71.4 469.7 1,655.0

Capital expenditures 755.2 32.5 59.8 171.4 271.6 26.2 1,316.7

The Sentinel project was under development at December 31, 2012. The exploration and development costs related to this

property are capitalized. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2011, segmented information is presented as follows:

Guelb 
Kansanshi Moghrein Ravensthorpe Kevitsa Sentinel Corporate Total

Segmented revenues 2,048.3 346.2 – – – 299.6 2,694.1

Less inter-segment revenues – – – – – (110.6) (110.6)

Sales revenues 2,048.3 346.2 – – – 189.0 2,583.5

Cost of sales

Costs of production (810.7) (186.5) – – – (194.8) (1,192.0)

Movement in inventory 21.7 6.8 – – – – 28.5

Depreciation (72.2) (38.7) – – – (1.1) (112.0)

Segmented gross profit (loss) 1,187.1 127.8 – – – (6.9) 1,308.0

Other 3.8 (8.9) – – – (182.8) (187.9)

Segmented operating profit (loss) 1,190.9 118.9 – – – (189.7) 1,120.1

Net finance income (costs) (5.2) – – – – 0.6 (4.6)

Segmented profit (loss) before 

undernoted items 1,185.7 118.9 – – – (189.1) 1,115.5

Income taxes (509.1) – – – – 48.4 (460.7)

Non-controlling interests (126.4) – – – – 0.5 (125.9)

Segmented profit (loss) 550.2 118.9 – – – (140.2) 528.9

Property, plant and equipment 958.0 214.5 956.3 713.2 358.0 624.4 3,824.4

Total assets 1,470.0 332.1 1,049.5 747.5 422.2 1,276.7 5,298.0

Total liabilities 668.8 42.0 221.1 61.8 21.7 114.1 1,129.5

Capital expenditures 332.1 46.9 303.0 303.4 59.7 4.4 1,049.5

Projects under development during 2011 included Kevitsa, Ravensthorpe and Sentinel, with Ravensthorpe achieving commercial

production on December 28, 2011. The exploration and development costs related to these properties are capitalized. 

geographical information

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Revenue by destination (a)

Zambia 1,618.6 1,728.9

China 793.9 362.5

South Africa 118.2 113.6

United Arab Emirates 89.5 –

Saudi Arabia 79.8 202.4

India 45.9 4.2

Sweden 44.1 –

Egypt 43.7 76.3

Brazil 37.7 –

South Korea 36.2 60.0

Canada 25.8 –

Taiwan 10.3 17.8

Switzerland 6.0 16.9

Other 0.7 0.9

2,950.4 2,583.5

a) Presented based on the ultimate destination of the product if known. If the eventual destination of the product sold through

traders is not known then revenue is allocated to the location of the product at the time when the risks and rewards of

ownership are passed.
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December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

non-current assets by location

Zambia 2,497.9 1,397.7

Australia 939.3 956.3

Finland 817.7 713.2

Peru 615.2 607.6

Mauritania 208.6 214.5

United Kingdom 1.9 4.4

Other 4.3 0.9

5,084.9 3,894.6

Investments, deferred income tax assets and promissory note receivable 618.5 29.3

5,703.4 3,923.9

25. Financial instRuMents

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks arising from financial instruments. These risks, and management’s objectives,

policies and procedures for managing these risks, are disclosed in the accounting policy in note 3n and as follows:

Fair values

The Company classifies its financial assets as fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, or loans and receivables. Financial

liabilities are classified as either fair value through profit or loss, or other financial liabilities. 

The following provides a comparison of carrying and fair values of each classification of financial instrument at December 31, 2012:

Fair value Other Total 
Loans and Available- through financial carrying Total fair 

receivables for-sale profit or loss liabilities amount value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 309.0 – – – 309.0 309.0

Trade receivables and other 

prepayments (a) 319.9 – – – 319.9 319.9

Derivative instruments – – 5.0 – 5.0 5.0

Investments

At cost (b) – 16.0 – – 16.0 –

At fair value – 39.6 – – 39.6 39.6

Promissory note receivable (c) 481.8 – – – 481.8 481.8

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – – – 355.5 355.5 355.5

Derivative instruments – – 3.9 – 3.9 3.9

Debt facilities – – – 396.8 396.8 396.8

a) Trade receivables and other prepayments 

Copper products are sold under pricing arrangements where final prices are set at a specified future date based on market

copper prices. Changes between the prices recorded upon recognition of revenue and the final price due to fluctuations in

copper market prices give rise to an embedded derivative in the accounts receivable. This derivative is classified as fair value

through profit or loss and recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized as a component of cost of sales.
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b) Investments – at cost 

The Company holds investments in privately held entities which are measured at cost as the fair value cannot be reliably

measured.

c) Promissory note receivable

The promissory note from ENRC (note 21) is classified as a loan or receivable and carried at amortized cost. Management

estimates that the fair value of the note receivable approximates the carrying value of $481.8 million which includes accrued

interest of $12.5 million at December 31, 2012.

The following provides a comparison of carrying and fair values of each classification of financial instrument at December 31, 2011:

Fair value Other Total 
Loans and Available- through financial carrying Total fair 

receivables for-sale profit or loss liabilities amount value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 452.1 – – – 452.1 452.1

Trade receivables and other 

prepayments (a) 165.4 – – – 165.4 165.4

Derivative instruments – – 5.1 – 5.1 5.1

Investments 

At cost (b) – 9.5 – – 9.5 –

At fair value – 8.5 – – 8.5 8.5

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – – – 254.0 254.0 254.0

Derivative instruments – – 8.4 – 8.4 8.4

Debt facilities – – – 62.8 62.8 62.8

Fair value hierarchy 

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest

priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority

to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below: 

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value by level within the fair value

hierarchy as at December 31, 2012: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

Financial assets

Derivative instruments – LME contracts 4.6 – – 4.6

Derivative instruments – OTC contracts – 0.4 – 0.4

Investments at fair value 35.6 – 4.0 39.6

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments – LME contracts 1.1 – – 1.1

Derivative instruments – OTC contracts – 1.3 – 1.3

Embedded derivative in subordinated debt facility – 1.5 – 1.5



81First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 2012 Annual Report  Our UNIQUE Investment Dynamics  DRIVING Shareholder VALUE

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value by level within the fair value

hierarchy as at December 31, 2011: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

Financial assets

Derivative instruments – LME contracts 4.3 – – 4.3

Derivative instruments – OTC contracts – 0.8 – 0.8

Investments at fair value 4.4 – 4.1 8.5

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments – LME contracts 3.5 – – 3.5

Derivative instruments – OTC contracts – 2.5 – 2.5

Embedded derivative in subordinated debt facility – 2.4 – 2.4

The Company’s derivative instruments are valued using pricing models and the Company generally uses similar models to value

similar instruments. Where possible, the Company verifies the values produced by comparing its pricing models to active market

prices. Forward contracts for copper, nickel, gold and PGE are purchased on the London Metal Exchange and London Bullion Market

and have direct quoted prices, therefore these contracts are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Other forward

contracts held by the Company for copper and gold are OTC and therefore the valuation models require the use of assumptions

concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and discount rates using inputs which can generally be verified

and do not involve significant management judgment. Such instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The Company’s investments in marketable equity securities are valued using quoted market prices in active markets and as such 

are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the marketable equity securities is calculated as the quoted

market price of the marketable security multiplied by the quantity of shares held by the Company. The Company’s investments

classified as Level 3 include asset backed commercial paper. The Company reviews the fair value periodically to determine whether

the value is materially impaired.

Financial risk management
� Credit risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and bank balances, short-term deposits, derivative instruments, trade 

and other receivables and promissory note receivable. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount

of each class of financial assets, including commodity contracts, recorded in the consolidated balance sheet. 

The Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key transactional bank accounts with highly

rated financial institutions. The Company manages its credit risk on short-term deposits by only investing with counterparties that

carry investment grade ratings as assessed by external rating agencies and spreading the investments across these counterparties.

Under the Company’s risk management policy, allowable counterparty exposure limits are determined by the level of the rating

unless exceptional circumstances apply. A rating of “A–” grade or equivalent is the minimum allowable rating required as assessed

by international credit rating agencies. Likewise, it is the Company’s policy to deal with banking counterparties for derivatives who

are rated “A–” grade or above by international credit rating agencies and graduated counterparty limits are applied depending

upon the rating.

Exceptions to the policy for dealing with relationship banks with ratings below “A–” are reported to, and approved by, the Audit

Committee. As at December 31, 2012, substantially all cash and short-term deposits are with counterparties with ratings “A–”

or higher.

The Company’s credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable is managed through establishing long-term contractual

relationships with international trading companies using industry-standard contract terms. More than 20% of the Company’s 

trade receivables are generated from two customers together representing greater than 40% of the total sales for the year. Other

accounts receivable consist of amounts owing from government authorities in relation to the refund of value-added taxes applying

to inputs for the production process and property, plant and equipment expenditures.
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The promissory note receivable from ENRC includes mandatory prepayment features triggered by the counterparty’s circumstances:

delisting from the London Stock Exchange; the counterparty’s long-term unsecured, unsubordinated debt being downgraded to a

rating lower than “B–” by Moody’s Investor Services Limited; a material portion of the counterparty’s assets are nationalized and/or

expropriated by any government entities; or it becomes unlawful for the counterparty to perform any of their obligations under the

promissory note.

Significant credit risk exposures to any single counterparty or group of counterparty having similar characteristics are as follows:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Commodity traders and smelters (Trade receivables and other receivables) 319.9 175.0

Government authorities (Prepaid taxes and VAT receivable) 234.7 63.1

Promissory note due from ENRC 481.8 –

1,036.4 238.1

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the

Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 

� Liquidity risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash and cash equivalent balances and available credit facilities to ensure that

it is able to meet its short-term and long-term obligations as and when they fall due. Company-wide cash projections are managed

centrally and regularly updated to reflect the dynamic nature of the business and fluctuations caused by commodity price and

exchange rate movements.

In addition, the Company was obligated under its corporate revolving credit and term loan facility to maintain liquidity and satisfy

various ratio tests on an historical and prospective cash flow basis. These ratios were in compliance during the year ended

December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

The Company had the following balances and facilities available to them at the balance sheet dates: 

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 309.0 452.1

Working capital balance (a) 1,131.0 352.5

Undrawn debt facilities 1,317.4 316.7

a) Working capital is defined as the net total of accounts receivable, inventory, prepayments, accounts payable, accruals, and

current taxes payable or receivable.

Contractual and other obligations as at December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Carrying Contractual 
Value Cash flows < 1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years Thereafter

Debt 396.8 584.9 73.3 60.0 50.8 400.8

Trade and other payables 355.5 355.5 355.5 – – –

Current taxes payable 32.5 32.5 32.5 – – –

Deferred payments 4.2 4.2 4.2 – – –

Finance leases 27.2 38.9 3.8 7.6 7.6 19.9

Commitments 897.2 897.2 897.2 – – –

Restoration provisions 270.5 519.0 0.6 5.6 1.0 511.8

Total 1,983.9 2,432.2 1,367.1 73.2 59.4 932.5
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Contractual and other obligations as at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Carrying Contractual 
Value Cash flows < 1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years Thereafter

Debt 62.9 63.2 48.2 10.1 4.9 –

Trade and other payables 273.4 273.4 273.4 – – –

Current taxes payable 289.4 289.4 289.4 – – –

Deferred payments 7.9 7.9 0.4 0.4 – 7.1

Finance leases 28.6 41.9 3.7 7.4 7.4 23.4

Commitments 380.4 380.4 380.4 – – –

Restoration provisions 252.5 239.7 1.3 2.6 2.6 233.2

Total 1,295.1 1,295.9 996.8 20.5 14.9 263.7

� Market risks

a) Commodity price risk 

The Company is subject to commodity price risk from fluctuations in the market prices of copper, gold, nickel and PGE and other

elements. The Company is also exposed to commodity price risk on diesel fuel required for mining operations and sulphur required

for acid production. The Company’s risk management policy allows for the management of these exposures through the use of

derivative financial instruments. 

The Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial instruments unless there is an outstanding contract resulting in

exposure to market risks that it intends to mitigate. As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had entered

into derivative contracts for copper, gold, nickel and PGE in order to reduce the effects of fluctuations in metal prices between 

the time of the shipment of metal from the mine site and the date agreed for pricing the final settlement. 

As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had not entered into any diesel or sulphur derivatives.

The Company’s commodity price risk related to accounts receivable related to changes in fair value of embedded derivatives 

in accounts receivable reflecting copper and gold sales provisionally priced based on the forward price curve at the end of each

quarter and the commodity price risk related to long-term debt related to the embedded copper derivative in the Kansanshi

subordinated debt facility.

The following table shows the impact on net earnings from changes in the fair values of financial instruments of a 10% change in

the copper, gold and nickel commodity prices, based on December 31, 2012 prices. There is no impact of these changes on other

comprehensive income except indirectly through the impact on the fair value of the available-for-sale investments. The impact 

of a 10% movement in commodity prices is as follows:

Average contract price Impact of price change 
on December 31 on net earnings

2012 2011 2012 2011

Copper $ 3.61/lb $ 3.41/lb 1.9 0.9

Gold $ 1,705/oz $ 1,692/oz 0.3 0.1

Nickel $ 7.81/lb $ 8.21/lb 0.8 0.8

PGE and other elements – – 0.4 –

b) Interest rate risk 

The Company’s interest rate risk arises from interest paid on floating rate borrowings and the interest received on cash and short-

term deposits. 

Deposits are invested on a short-term basis to ensure adequate liquidity for payment of operational and capital expenditures. 

To date no interest-rate management products, such as swaps, are used in relation to deposits. 
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The Company manages its interest rate risk on borrowings on a net basis after first recognizing the natural hedge arising from

floating rate deposits. The Company has a policy allowing floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps targeting 50% of exposure over 

a five year period. As at December 31, 2012, the Company held no floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. As at December 31, 2011 

the Company held no floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. 

At December 31, 2012, the impact on a full year net earnings of a 100 basis point change in interest rate would be as follows:

Impact of interest rate change 
December 31, 2012 on net earnings

100 basis point increase 100 basis point decrease

Interest-bearing deposits and cash at bank 309.0 2.2 (1.0)

Floating rate borrowings 42.6 (0.3) 0.1

At December 31, 2011, the impact on a full year net earnings of a 100 basis point change in interest rate would be as follows:

Impact of interest rate change 
December 31, 2011 on net earnings

100 basis point increase 100 basis point decrease

Interest-bearing deposits and cash at bank 452.1 3.2 (1.6)

Floating rate borrowings 43.3 (0.3) 0.1

c) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company’s functional and reporting currency is USD. As virtually all of the Company’s revenues are derived in USD and the

majority of its business is conducted in USD, foreign exchange risk arises from transactions denominated in currencies other than

USD. Commodity sales are denominated in USD, the majority of borrowings are denominated in USD and the majority of operating

expenses are denominated in USD. The Company’s primary foreign exchange exposures are to the local currencies in the countries

where the Company’s operations are located, principally the Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”), Australian dollar (“AUD”) Mauritanian

ouguiya (“MRO”) and the Euro (“EUR”); and to the local currencies of suppliers who provide capital equipment for project

development, principally the AUD, EUR and the South African rand (“ZAR”).

The Company’s risk management policy allows for the management of exposure to local currencies through the use of financial

instruments at a targeted amount of up to 100% for exposures within one year down to 50% for exposures in five years. 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following financial assets and liabilities

denominated in currencies other than USD: 

Cash and cash Trade and other Financial 
equivalents receivables Investments liabilities

CAD 0.2 2.8 42.2 2.8

AUD 13.6 2.1 – 2.7

ZMK 5.4 232.3 – 38.6

EUR 44.8 4.5 – 21.3

ZAR 14.8 0.2 – 0.4

MRO 0.8 9.2 – 1.0

Other 0.5 0.3 – 0.8

Total 80.1 251.4 42.2 67.6

Based on the above net exposures as at December 31, 2012, a 10% change of the above currencies against the USD would result 

in a $6.4 million increase or decrease in the Company’s net earnings and would result in a $3.8 million increase or decrease in the

Company’s other comprehensive income. 
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As at December 31, 2011, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following financial assets and liabilities denominated

in currencies other than USD: 

Cash and cash Trade and other Financial 
equivalents receivables Investments liabilities

CAD 6.6 – 4.3 –

AUD 9.6 – – 54.8

ZMK 9.6 32.4 – 8.8

EUR 16.6 22.9 – 55.0

ZAR 5.6 – – 18.3

MRO 1.7 – – 5.9

Other 0.9 – – 12.1

Total 50.6 55.3 4.3 154.9

Based on the above net exposures as at December 31, 2011, a 10% change of the above currencies against the USD would result 

in a $4.5 million increase or decrease in the Company’s net earnings and would result in a $0.4 million increase or decrease in the

Company’s other comprehensive income.

� Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to continue to provide returns for shareholders, and comply with lending

requirements while safeguarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company considers the items included

in equity to be capital. 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk

characteristics of the Company’s assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount 

of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

� Derivatives not designated as hedged instruments

As at December 31, 2012, the following derivative positions were outstanding:

Average price

Open Positions
(tonnes/ounces) Contract Market Maturities Through

embedded derivatives in 

provisional sales contracts:

Copper 50,191 $ 3.61/lb $ 3.59/lb March 2013

Nickel 3,996 7.81/lb 7.70/lb February 2013

Gold 19,462 1,705/oz 1,676/oz March 2013

commodity contracts:

Copper 53,453 $ 3.61/lb $ 3.59/lb March 2013

Nickel 3,315 7.81/lb 7.70/lb February 2013

Gold 21,253 1,705/oz 1,676/oz March 2013

A summary of the fair values of unsettled derivative financial instruments for commodity contracts recorded on the consolidated

balance sheet:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

commodity contracts:

Asset position $ 5.0 $5.1

Liability position (2.4) (6.0)

Derivative liabilities on the balance sheet also include $1.4 million (December 31, 2011 – $2.4 million) relating to the embedded

derivative liability in the Kansanshi subordinated debt (note 9) recorded at fair value.
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26. suPPleMentaRy casH Flow inFoRMation

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

2012 2011

Cash on hand and balances in bank 200.9 251.8

Short-term deposits 108.1 200.3

309.0 452.1

27. coMMitMents

In conjunction with the development of Sentinel, and other projects including the copper smelter project at Kansanshi, the Company

has committed to approximately $897.2 million (December 31, 2011 – $380.4 million) in capital expenditures.

28. Post Balance sHeet eVents

a) offer to acquire shares of inmet Mining corporation (“inmet”)

On January 9, 2013 the Company announced that it has formally commenced an offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares 

of Inmet for total consideration of approximately C$5.1 billion. Inmet shareholders have the opportunity to elect shares in the

Company, cash, or a combination thereof, subject to an overall consideration mix of approximately 50% in shares and 50% in cash.

The offer is open until March 11, 2013.

b) Dividend declared

The Company has declared a final dividend of C$0.1147 per share in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2012. 

The final dividend of C$0.1147, together with the interim dividend of $0.0603 CAD, is a total of C$0.175 for the 2012 financial year.
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Philip K.R. Pascall, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mr. Pascall graduated from Sussex University in England with an honours degree in Control Engineering, and later completed

an MBA at the University of Cape Town. He worked in general management positions in South Africa from 1973; and in the

mining industry there from 1977 with RTZ, and E.L. Bateman, and since 1981, in Australia. He was the Project Manager of the

Argyle Diamond Project and then, he was Executive Chairman and part owner of Nedpac Engineering between 1982 and

1990. During this time, Mr. Pascall was involved in a wide variety of mineral projects in Australia, New Zealand, S.E. Asia, Chile,

the United States, and Zimbabwe. After selling his share of Nedpac in 1990, he was a consultant in the mining industry,

including a period with Rio Tinto’s Hamersley Iron, and with various projects in Zimbabwe and Zambia. He is a co-founder

and has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since November 1996.

Clive Newall, President and Director

Mr. Newall graduated from the Royal School of Mines, University of London, England in 1971 with an honours degree in Mining

Geology, and was awarded an MBA from the Scottish Business School at Strathclyde University.   He has worked in mining

and exploration throughout his career, having held senior management positions with Amax Exploration Inc. and the

Robertson Group plc.   Mr. Newall was a founder and has been President and Director of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. since its

start up in 1996. He is also a non-executive director of Gemfields Plc and Baker Steel Resource Trust Limited.

Martin R. Rowley, Executive Director Business Development and Director

Mr. Rowley graduated from the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1975.   After starting

his career as an accountant working in both Australia and England he worked as executive assistant to the Board of Directors of

a large Australian public company from 1980 to 1984. He then established his own resource consulting and investment

company and was involved as a shareholder, Director and Chairman of a number of Australian public resource companies

before co-founding First Quantum Minerals Ltd. in 1996.   Mr. Rowley served as First Quantum’s CFO and as a Director until

January 2007, when he assumed the role of Executive Director, Business Development. He is also non-executive Chairman and

a director of Forsys Metals Corp., a Toronto Stock Exchange-listed company in the uranium sector.

Peter St. George, Lead Independent Director 1, 2, 3

Mr. St. George worked in the investment banking industry for over 30 years holding senior positions in the United Kingdom

and Australia. He was Managing Director and Chief Executive/Co-Chief Executive Officer of Salomon Smith Barney

Australia and its predecessor, Natwest Markets Australia, from January 1995 to mid-2001. Up to 1994, he was the Managing

Director Corporate Finance Natwest Markets, having previously been a Director of Hill Samuel & Co. Limited, both London

head quartered merchant and investment banks. He is currently a non-executive director of Boart Longyear Limited, an

international drilling products and services business listed on the ASX, and Dexus Property Group, a leading ASX-listed

Australian property group specializing in office, industrial and retail properties. He has also served on a number of other

public and private company Boards in Australia. Mr. St. George qualified as a Chartered Accountant in South Africa and holds

an MBA from the University of Cape Town.

DiRectoRs
Our Board of Directors believes that sound corporate governance 
practices are essential to the well-being of the Company.

Philip K.R. Pascall Clive Newall Martin R. Rowley Peter St. George



Andrew Adams, Independent Director 1, 2, 3

Mr. Adams obtained his degree in Social Science from Southampton University and qualified as a Chartered Accountant in the

United Kingdom in 1981.   He worked for the Anglo American group of companies for 12 years up to 1999, his final position

being Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of AngloGold North America based in Denver, Colorado. Mr. Adams worked for

Aber Diamond Corporation as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1999 to 2003. Currently he serves as an

independent non-executive director of Uranium One Inc. and Torex Gold Resources.

Paul Brunner, Independent Director 2, 3, 4

Mr. Brunner served as President and CEO of Boart Longyear Company (USA), a leading provider of drilling services, tools and

equipment for the natural resource industry, the construction and quarrying industries and industrial markets worldwide, from

2004 to 2008. During his 21-year career with Boart Longyear, Mr. Brunner held several senior positions including Managing

Director – Boart Longyear Limited (South Africa); Regional Director – Boart Longyear Limitada (Chile/Peru); and, President –

Boart Canada Ltd. Prior to Boart Longyear he spent most of his career working at mining operations in Northern Canada.   

Mr. Brunner holds an MBA from Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration and is a mining engineering graduate

from the Colorado School of Mines. He also attended the British Columbia Institute of Technology with a focus on mining.

Michael Hanley, Independent Director

Mr. Hanley has over 20 years of senior executive experience.   Most recently, he served as Senior Vice-President Operations

and Strategic Initiatives and member of the Office of the President at National Bank of Canada. From 1998 to 2008, Mr. Hanley

held various executive roles at Alcan, including President and CEO of its global Bauxite and Alumina business group, and his

final position of Executive Vice-President and CFO. He currently serves as an Independent Director and Audit Committee chair

for BRP, a manufacturer, distributor, and marketer of motorized recreational vehicles and powersports engines; and as

independent director for Orbite Aluminae, a cleantech company.   Mr. Hanley holds a business degree from HEC Montreal

and is a Chartered Accountant.

Michael Martineau, Independent Director 2, 3, 4

Mr. Martineau graduated from the University of Oxford in England with a MA and d.Phil in geology. He has worked worldwide

in mineral exploration and mine development since 1970, specializing in Africa since 1986. After seven years in North America

with Kennecott Copper Corporation, he moved to the United Kingdom becoming General Manager Global Exploration for

BP Minerals. After a period as Director Minerals for Seltrust Mining (Australia) and CEO of Cluff Minerals Exploration in 1989, he

founded and acted as CEO for Canadian-listed SAMAX Gold Inc, Carpathian Gold and latterly AXMIN Inc. Currently he serves

as a non-executive Chairman of Eurasia Mining plc.

Steven McTiernan* Independent Director 1, 3, 4

Mr. McTiernan is a senior executive with experience in both natural resources and investment banking.   Mr. McTiernan was

previously Senior Vice President at The Chase Manhattan Bank in New York, held senior energy-related positions at NatWest

Markets and CIBC World Markets, and also worked for oil companies in the Middle East, Europe and Africa.   Mr. McTiernan

graduated from Cambridge University with a degree in Natural Sciences. He currently serves as a non-executive director for

Songa Offshore SE and Sandown Energy Consultants.

*Mr. McTiernan will not be seeking re-election to the Board of Directors at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

1  Audit Committee

2  Compensation Committee

3  Nominating and Governance Committee

4  Environmental, Health and Safety Committee

Andrew Adams Paul Brunner Michael Martineau Steven McTiernan Michael Hanley
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coRPoRate DiRectoRy

oPeRations

Kansanshi, Zambia

Kansanshi Mining PLC

P.O. Box 110385

Solwezi, Zambia

Tel: +260 212 658000

Fax: +260 212 658203

Guelb Moghrein, Mauritania

Mauritanian Copper

Mines S.A. Ilot D49

Tevrag Zeina, BP 5045,

Nouakchott, Mauritania

Tel: +222 524 4813

Fax: +222 524 4735

Ravensthorpe, Australia

FQM Australia Nickel

Locked Bag 100

Ravensthorpe 6346

Australia

Tel: +61 89 838 2000

Fax: +61 89 838 2001

Kevitsa, Finland

FQM Kevitsa Mining Oy

Kevitsantie 730

Fl-99670 Petkula

Finland

Tel: +358 16 451 100

Fax: +358 16 451 111

PRojects

Trident Project, Zambia

P.O. Box 230022

Plot 3805, Zambia Rd.

Industrial Area

Ndola, Zambia

Tel: +260 21 265 9000

Fax: +260 21 122 5006

Haquira, Peru

Minera Antares Peru SAC

Av. Ejercito 101, Oficina 601

Edificio Nasya

Yanahuara, Arequipa

Peru

Tel: +51 54 270616

RePResentatiVe oFFices

Canada

8th Floor – 543 Granville Street

Vancouver, BC

Canada V6C 1X8

Tel: +1 604 688 6577

Toll Free: +1 888 688 6577

Fax: +1 604 688 3818

United Kingdom

Tennyson House

159-165 Great Portland Street

London, England W1W 5PA

Tel: +44 207 291 6630

Fax: +44 207 291 6655

Australia

P.O. Box 1407

West Perth

Western Australia 6872

Tel: +61 89 346 0100

Fax: +61 89 226 2522

South Africa

Highway Gardens

Office Park – Unit 5

77 Minuach Street

Edenvale, 1610

Gauteng, South Africa

Tel: +27 11 409 4900

Fax: +27 11 452 5323





We deliver value.

Since we first listed

on the TSX,

First Quantum's

shares have returned

a compounded

annual gain of

over 30%.

We deliver on our objectives.

Since 2003, we have

delivered over

$2.3 billion of

projects within 6%

of budget.

A new leader in global copper.

A premier company

with a long-standing

commitment to

social and

environmental

excellence.




